STUDENT PERCEPTIONS OF FACULTY CLASSROOM PRACTICES THAT INFLUENCE STUDENT PERSISTENCE

EDU 776 RESEARCH PROJECT

Submitted in partial Fulfillment of the Requirements
For the Degree of
Master of Arts in Education
(Concentration on Community Colleges)
Central Michigan University

Submitted by: Michelle Cole

Submitted to: Dr. Thomas O. Whipple Monitor

December 12, 2010

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study was to explore students' perspectives of classroom activities and behaviours that contribute to their academic success and their decisions to remain in college. This study demonstrates that faculty do play a significant role in the success of students and can influence student retention rates. Faculty teaching techniques and classroom behaviours affect how the students perceive the institution as well. Students believe that faculty who use active learning techniques and who demonstrate a general positive attitude toward his or her students are concerned about the students' academic success and overall well-being. This fosters loyalty to the institution and enhances the students' commitment to his or her studies.

The researcher proposed the following six hypotheses for the purposes of this research: professors' use of active learning techniques in the classroom will lead to higher student retention rates; since active learning contributes to student engagement and student engagement leads to student persistence, then active learning influences student persistence; professors' classroom behaviours influence students' decisions to persist in college; students can identify specific classroom practices that influence their decision to persist; Professors play an important role in student success and student persistence; and the qualitative data gathered in the focus group sessions with students will match the emperical data from previous research studies on the topics highlighted in the current research study. The researcher reviewed related literature and gathered student feedback during the focus group sessions, which supported five of the six hypotheses.

Based on the participants' feedback and the review of the literature, the researcher identified a list of recommendations for faculty and institutional leaders. These recommendations suggests that faculty and institutions recognize the proven benefits of the use

of active learning techniques in the classroom and the importance of academic support for students in order to enhance student engagement and persistence. Furthermore, the researcher also recommends that institutions do further research on the educational needs and barriers of its upper year students and adult learners.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER I: DEFINITION OF THE PROBLEM	5
Background	5
Purpose of the Study	7
Statement of the Problem	7
Research Questions	8
Definition of Terms	8
Limitations of the Study	11
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	12
Introduction	12
Student Engagement and Persistence	13
Active Learning	16
Active Learning and Student Engagement	18
Active Learning and Student Persistence	19
Faculty Behaviours and Student Persistence	23
Faculty Influence on Student Persistence.	24
Summary	27
CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY	31
Population and Sample	31
Data Collection Methods	32
Variables and Measures	33
Data Analysis Methods	33
Hypotheses	35
CHAPTER IV: ANALYSIS OF THE DATA	36
Data Analysis	36
Hypothesis Analysis	38
Summary	59
CHAPTER V: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS	62
Summary	62

Student Persistence

Conclusions	64
Recommendations	65
REFERENCES	70
APPENDICES	76
APPENDIX A Letter of Permission from Vice President, Academic	76
APPENDIX B Letter of Invitation to Participants	78
APPENDIX C Focus Group Session Questionnaire	79
APPENDIX D Consent Form and Survey Questionnaire	82
APPENDIX E Theme Analysis Table	87

CHAPTER I: DEFINITION OF THE PROBLEM

Background

In 2005, the provincial government introduced the Reaching Higher (2005) action plan for Ontario colleges and universities. The plan to infuse millions of dollars into postsecondary education focused on the following:

- funding opportunities,
- strategies to increase student enrolment,
- new initiatives to improve quality teaching and learning; and,
- plans to enhance the student experience.

The provincial government also introduced the *Second Career* program in 2008, to entice recently laid-off workers back to post-secondary to retrain for new high-demand careers.

Furthermore, based on government statistics, strategists also forecast an impending need for a significant skilled labour force (Rae, 2005; Miner, 2010) as older generations prepare for retirement.

Because of the looming skilled trades shortage, and with numerous initiatives underway, the government continues to promote its postsecondary, apprenticeships, and skills training programs available through its community colleges. As well, the province of Ontario, postsecondary institutions, and government affiliates such as Colleges Ontario and the Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario (HEQCO) conduct valuable research to explore student retention issues, identify barriers to post-secondary education, and invest in projects aimed at promoting the benefits of higher education.

In response to these and other government initiatives, educators and institutional leaders dedicate a great deal of time and effort researching best practices, conducting student-based

surveys such as, the Key Performance Indicators (KPI) Student Satisfaction Survey, and creating institutional strategies such as Strategic Enrolment Management (SEM) initiatives. Colleges analyze the various survey results and implement plans such as SEM with the intention of improving student educational outcomes and retention rates, enhancing overall student satisfaction and engagement, and ultimately, increasing graduation rates.

Evaluating student engagement and instituting practices that will enhance the student college experience are important goals for postsecondary institutions. Studies conducted over the past several years clearly established that student involvement in and outside the classroom leads to overall student success and engagement in postsecondary education (Kuh, Kinzie, Schuh, & Whitt, 2005; Kuh, Cruce, Shoup, Kinzie, & Gonyea, 2008; Umbach & Wawrzynski, 2005). Researchers such as Demaris and Kritsonis (2008), Major and Palmer (2002), and Svanus and Bigatti (2009) continue to evaluate student engagement and the social, institutional, and academic factors that contribute to student success and persistence. There are numerous studies demonstrating the value of social integration as a key factor for student engagement (Braxton, Milem, & Sullivan, 2000; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005; Tinto, 1997), and, more recently, researchers are evaluating the impact of faculty teaching techniques and their influence on student persistence (Braxton, Jones, Hirshey & Hartley, 2008).

Stemming from Chickering and Gamson's (1987) seven principles for good practice in undergraduate education, researchers such as Michael (2004), Braxton et al. (2008), and Braxton et al. (2000) are praising the effectiveness of faculty's use of active learning techniques in the classroom as an influence on increased engagement and persistence in postsecondary education.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative research study is to explore students' perspectives of classroom activities that contribute to their success and desire to persist in their studies. The research will compliment the abundance of empirical data regarding student engagement and persistence with a qualitative research study that focuses on the students' perceptions of faculty's use of active learning techniques. The findings will also determine if the use of active learning fosters student engagement, and enhances student persistence at XXXX College, a mid-sized community college in Ontario.

The researcher will compile data based on the common themes mentioned in the focus group sessions and will establish a list of recommendations for college faculty members to consider when developing curriculum, creating lesson plans, and delivering course material in the classroom. College leadership and administration can also use the recommendations for promoting these practices to their full-time and part-time faculty.

Statement of the Problem

The core problem addressed in this study is that a large percentage of college faculty use lecturing as their main teaching method and rarely incorporate active learning techniques in their classrooms, which may be hindering their students' opportunities to be successful and persist in college. Previous research conducted by Statistics Canada (Barr-Telford, Cartwright, Prasil, & Shimmons, 2003) demonstrated that the most common reason why students leave post-secondary education is a lack of fit in their area of study. One measure of lack of fit is described as not having enough interest or motivation in the course content (Barr-Telford et al., 2003, page 10). Studies clearly revealed that the use of active learning techniques increase students' engagement

in classroom activities and thus increase the students' likelihood to persist in their educational endeavours. The researcher will gather qualitative data directly from discussions with students and evaluate what teaching practices encourage students to thrive academically and remain in school.

Research Questions

- 1. Do professors' teaching methods, such as the use of active learning techniques, lead to higher student retention rates?
- 2. If active learning leads to student engagement, and student engagement leads to student persistence, then does active learning lead to, or influence, student persistence?
- 3. Do professors' classroom behaviours influence students' decisions to persist in college?
- 4. Specifically, what classroom practices influence students' decisions to stay in college?
- 5. What role do professors play in student success and student persistence?
- 6. Does the qualitative data gathered by the research match the empirical data from previous studies?

Definition of Terms

- Active learning: Students engaging in activities that require them to reflect upon ideas
 and think about how they use those ideas. Requires students to participate and contribute
 regularly to class discussions and promotes critical thinking and problem solving skills.
 Active learning techniques include activities such as, classroom discussions, group work,
 and role playing.
- 2. Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology/Community College: In Ontario, Colleges of Applied Arts and Technology offer Ontario College Diploma (OCD), Ontario College

- Advanced Diploma (OCAD), and a limited number of degree programs, which are two years, three years, and four years in length. Some courses of study lead to official certifications in skilled trades that are regulated by professional associations.
- 3. Commuter College: A college or university which caters primarily to the needs of commuting students. A commuter college provides the instructors, buildings and support facilities needed to complete a course of instruction, but not necessarily the dormitories, student life centers, or sports facilities associated with traditional colleges.
- 4. Commuter Student: The commuter student population is a diverse group, which encompasses full-time students who live with their parents, part-time students who live in off-campus apartments, parents with children at home, and full-time workers.
 Commuters range in age from the traditional college student (eighteen to twenty-four years old) to the older adult. They attend every type of higher education institution, including two-year and four-year public universities or private colleges. They often attend classes and then go home or to work, rarely spending additional time outside of the classroom on campus. Commuter students may have competing responsibilities outside the academic classroom, such as family, home, and work interests.
- 5. Liberal Arts College: College or university curriculum aimed at imparting general knowledge and developing general intellectual capacities, in contrast to a professional, vocational, or technical curriculum. Generally, a full-time, four-year course of study at a liberal arts college leads students to a Bachelor of Arts or Bachelor of Science degree. These schools are American institutions of higher education that have traditionally emphasized interactive instruction. These colleges also encourage a high level of student-teacher interaction at the center of which are classes taught by full-time faculty

- rather than graduate student TAs (who teach some of the classes at Research I and other universities). They are known for being residential and for having smaller enrolment, class size, and teacher-student ratios than universities.
- 6. Student Engagement: Described as the time and energy that students devote to educationally sound activities inside and outside the classroom. Also described as students' willingness to participate in routine school activities, such as attending class, submitting required work, and following teachers' directions in class. It can also involve active participation in extra-curricular and student life activities on campus.
- 7. Student Persistence: Students who continue year after year and eventually graduate from postsecondary education.
- 8. Student Retention: Institutional actions and practices used in order to keep students in school until graduation.
- 9. Second Career Student: Second Career students are students who have recently been laid off from their work and who have qualified for Second Career funding by the provincial government. Second Career is a program that provides laid off worker with skills training to help them find jobs in high-demand occupations in Ontario and offers financial support for books, tuition, transportation, and basic cost of living allowance.
- 10. First Generation Student: A first generation student is a student whose parents/guardians have not attended a post secondary institution. If the student's siblings have attended a post secondary institution but their parents/guardians have not, they are still considered a first generation student.
- 11. Mature Student: A mature student is a student who has been out of school at least one year.

12. Traditional Student: A traditional student is a student who began their post secondary education immediately after high school.

Limitations of the Study

Surveyor fatigue is valid concern for this research project. Throughout the year, academic schools and service departments strive to evaluate departmental performance and enlist students to engage in multiple surveys and focus groups. As a result, it may be difficult to obtain students willing to participate in yet another study.

Furthermore, the students who volunteer to participate in the study may not represent the average student and may not be the ideal candidate for the research. For instance, the ideal participants will be the traditional learner, aged 18 to 22, but given the growing number of adult learners, Second Career, First Generation, and international students attending college, the researcher will likely conduct interviews with students from these emerging demographics as well. Academically astute students with above average grades, A+ students, who may persists regardless to teaching techniques used in the classroom may not be ideal participants for this study. These students may have different academic priorities and diverse needs; therefore, their responses may influence the results of the study.

In addition, the researcher recognises that students may not provide accurate accounts of their experiences for fear of judgement from their peers or identification by their professors even though the responses are confidential and the participants will remain anonymous.

CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Introduction

The theoretical framework for this study is Tinto's Theory of Departure (1975), which investigated various personal, external, and institutional factors that influence a student's decision to continue or leave post-secondary education. Tinto's theory explored interactions within the college environment in depth, and predicted that positive social interactions with peers and faculty, academic success, and goal commitment are significant contributors to student persistence.

For the purposes of this study, the research will explore the college classroom environment and focus specifically on teaching and learning factors that affect student persistence. Tinto's theory argued that both early academic and social experiences in postsecondary correlate with persistence or dropout outcomes. He noted, "it is the individual's integration into the academic and social systems of the college that most directly relates to his continuance in that college" (Tinto, 1975, p.96). However, Tinto (1975) stated that students are more likely to succeed and persist in college regardless of social interactions, if they are fully committed to their academic goals and to completing their college education (p.93 & p. 96).

Lambert, Zeman, Allen, and Bussiere (2004) researched postsecondary education pursuers and leavers using numbers from Statistics Canada's Youth in Transition Survey (YITS). Their findings concluded that fifteen percent of students enrolled in postsecondary education left before completing their degree (p13). This study also revealed that of those who left, the majority of students "were less engaged in their postsecondary studies that those who stayed the course" (p.13). A related review by Barr-Telford, Cartwright, Prasil, & Shimmons, (2003), again using data from YITS, demonstrated that of the 250 thousand youth enrolled in postsecondary

education, 50% identified lack of fit with the program as the main reason for leaving. One of the "reasons included under lack of fit is not having enough interest or motivation" (p.10) in the program or in postsecondary education in general. Finnie, Childs, and Qui (2010) also gathered data from YITS for their project, and noted that "there is a strong relationship between PSE grades and PSE persistence; better performing students are considerably less likely to switch programs or leave" (p.28). All of these findings corroborate Tinto's theory and reveal that academic engagement and success are important predictors of student persistence.

Student Engagement and Persistence

Tinto's theory is fundamental in the conceptualization of student engagement models. In 2009, CCI Research Inc. reviewed various theories, including Tinto's model of student departure, to develop a working definition of student engagement. Although there is no one definition for student engagement, researchers have used the term to measure student involvement and academic success. One explanation from CCI's study described student engagement as "student's involvement with activities and conditions likely to generate high-quality learning" (CCI, 2009, p.15). Kuh (as cited in CCI, 2009) described student engagement as "the time and energy that students devote to educationally sound activities inside and outside the classroom" (p.15).

Kuh (2001) described Chickering and Gamson's (1987) principles as "the best-known set of engagement indicators" (p. 1). Chickering and Gamson (1987) introduced the seven principles for good practice in undergraduate education and recommended their use to faculty of undergraduate institutions. Years of studying both faculty teaching methods and student learning

outcomes guided Chickering and Gamson's findings. The seven principles for good practice include:

- Encouraging students-faculty interaction
- Developing peer cooperation
- Promoting active learning
- Providing timely feedback
- Emphasizing time on task
- Communicating high expectations
- Respecting varying talents and learning styles

Student engagement is an important aspect of this research study, therefore it is worthwhile to explore the use of Chickering and Gamson's practices in the classroom, and more specifically, the use of active learning, which will be examined further in this literature review. Although Chickering and Gamson's findings are over 20 years old, recent studies by Caboni, Mundy and Duesterhaus (2002); Kuh (2001); Nelson Laird et al. (2008); Koljatic and Kuh (2001), Seifert et al. (2010); and Umbach and Wawrzynski (2005) concluded that Chickering and Gamson's model remains relevant in today's classroom and promotes student engagement and academic success. Researchers continue to use the principles as indicators of student engagement while conducting further research that explores the impact of their use on student persistence (Kuh, 2001; Nelson Laird et al., 2008).

Several other studies also demonstrated a strong connection between student engagement and persistence. Kuh, Cruce, Shoup, Kinzie, and Gonyea (2008) sourced data from the National Survey of Student Engagement (NSSE), and concluded that first-year students who are engaged in their academic activities have better grades and are more likely to persist to second year,

despite factors that might have otherwise impeded on academic success, such as academic underpreparedness and/or financial barriers. Pascarella and Terenzini's (2005) research review underlined the vast amount of empirical evidence demonstrating grades as a predictor of student persistence. They noted, "virtually without exception, students' grades make statistically significant, frequently substantial, and indeed often the largest contribution to student persistence and attainment" (p. 397). This statement further corroborates Tinto's theory that academic achievement is a predominant factor and influencer of a student's decision to stay in school.

Once again, referring back to Kuh's description of engagement, "time and energy that students devote to educationally sound activities" (CCI, 2009, p.15), academic involvement is fundamental to college students' educational success and is a convincing measure of student engagement. Svanum and Bigatti's (2009) research also evaluated student engagement based on academic involvement in their courses. However, they narrowed their scope down even further and focused specifically on engagement measure, such as time spent completing assignments, attending class, and studying notes. They deduced the following based on their findings:

The advantage of such an approach is that it provides a narrow but clearly measured construct and thus provides a strong test of the hypothesis that academic course engagement influences college success. This measurement approach is also consonant with a fundamental assumption of engagement theory – namely, college success is greatly influenced by what students actually do. (Svanum & Bigatti, 2009, p.121)

As is relates to student persistence and goal attainment, Svanum and Bigatti's (2009) research demonstrated that students who were academically engaged in their courses not only completed their course, but they were also 1.5 times more likely to obtain their degrees and graduate in less time. (p. 128)

The evidence from US and Canadian based studies appears to be consistent. Regardless of other issues that may impede persistence (e.g. financial problems, parental and environmental background, and college under preparedness), academic success, demonstrated in the form of good grades and overall academic achievement, contributes positively to student persistence (Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005; Finnie, Childs & Qui, 2010; Kuh et al. 2008, Svanum & Bigatti, 2009).

Active Learning

College leadership teams devote a great deal of time, funding, and human resources to ensure their students receive quality-learning experiences during their time at the institution. Over the past several years, numerous studies clearly demonstrated that students who actively participate both inside and outside the classroom succeed and persist in their academic endeavours. Of particular interest is the growing focus on the influence of the classroom experience on a student's decision to stay in school.

As demonstrated in various studies, one of Chickering and Gamson's (1987) seven principles, promoting active learning, has gained a great deal of attention in the past decade. The research regarding active learning stems in part from the growing criticism surrounding the use of lecturing as the predominant teaching technique used in many of today's college classrooms. According to Weimer (2010) (p.82), 76% of faculty noted the use of lectures as their main teaching method. In another study, Nance and Nance (as cited by Dahlgren, Wille, Finkel & Burger, 2005) determined that 92% of college students indicated that their professors used primarily lecturing and they rarely participated in any classroom discussion (p49). Although lectures can be an effective way of delivering a large amount of course content and are somewhat stimulating at times, they result in students passively learning the course material (Armbruster,

Patel, Johnson & Weiss, 2009; Dahlgren, et al., 2005; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005). Nunn (as cited by Weimer, 2010), conducted classroom observation studies and concluded that only six percent of the time spent in class was dedicated to student participation. Armbruster et al. (2009) noted the following about lecture-based learning:

... these one way exchanges often promote passive and superficial learning (Bransford et al., 2000) and fail to stimulate student motivation, confidence, and enthusiasm (Weimer, 2002). As a consequence, the traditional lecture model can often lead to students completing their undergraduate education without the skills that are important for professional success (Armbruster et al. 2009, p. 203).

Findings from these and other bodies of research have reinforced the need to look closely at reforming college curriculum and course delivery, and to pay particular attention to the benefits of using active learning techniques in the classroom environment.

Although there is no formal definition for active learning, there are various descriptors for the term. Chickering and Gamson (1987) described active learning as the action of talking and writing about the learning and relating the course content to previous and current life experiences. Michael (2006), citing the Greenwood Dictionary of Education, describes active learning as "the process of having students engage in some activity that forces them to reflect upon ideas and how they are using those ideas" (p. 160). Dahlgren et al. (2005) refer to active learning as "a paradigm of teaching that emphasizes active participation in order for higher levels of learning to occur" (p. 50). The fundamental basis of the active learning principle is that students are actively participating in the classroom and are engaged in their learning experiences (Prince, 2004, p.223).

There are a number of examples of active learning techniques, such as classroom discussions, role-playing and simulation activities, and peer group work. Other examples of active learning include involving students in decisions regarding their choice of course assignments and assessment measures. Combining these and other characterizations from the literature generates a detailed and complete understanding of active learning.

Active Learning and Student Engagement

Several research studies have concluded that the use of active teaching and learning practices in the classroom contributes to a host of positive outcomes for students, including engagement. Callahan's (2008) research evaluated the influence of active learning techniques used in mathematics courses. His review of this topic suggested that active learning promoted deeper thinking and enhanced attitudes toward mathematics. He also noted that students involved in peer cooperative-learning activities might increase their ability to retain course content (p.364). Armbruster, Patel, Johnson, and Weiss's (2009) research resulted in similar outcomes. Their study evaluated the effects of redesigning a lecture-based biology class to include some form of active learning during every lesson. Their findings concluded that students' attitudes toward the course improved significantly in the years that professors incorporated active learning into the classroom (p. 208) and that academic performance and higher-order thinking skills also increased because of the course redesign (p.211). They determined the following based on their research: "The course restructuring led to significant improvement of self-reported student engagement and satisfaction and increased academic performance" (Armbruster et. al, 2009, p. 203). Their study also revealed that although the

students ranked the effectiveness of group work low, faculty noted that they appeared to be very engaged during in-class group activities (p.209).

Dahlgren, Wille, Finkel, and Burger (2005) also evaluated the influence of active learning on student engagement and determined that first-year students are more involved in their learning when group activities are used in their psychology classes. They conducted surveys with students in four classrooms whereby two professors used primarily lecture-based methods and the other two professors integrated group activities to their lectures. The results concluded that in the classes practicing group activities, 93% of the students participated more actively and 94% indicated that they learned to work better with their peers (p. 59).

These studies demonstrated that the use of active learning in the classroom contributes to enhanced knowledge of the course content, improved attitudes toward the subject matter, and overall higher levels of satisfaction and engagement among college students (Callahan, 2008; Armbruster et al., 2009; Dahlgren et. al, 2005; Pascarella and Terenzini, 2005). It is also evident that active learning techniques, such as classroom discussions and group work, lead to increased student engagement by way of quality- interactions with faculty and other students.

Active Learning and Student Persistence

One of the research questions for the current study asks the following: if active learning leads to student engagement, and student engagement leads to student persistence, then does active learning lead to, or influence, student persistence. The review of the literature has associated active learning to student engagement, and it finds that the use of active learning techniques also influences student persistence. Tinto's (1975) theoretical research highlighted academic and social integration as key influencers on persistence.

...the model argues that it is the individual's integration into the academic and social systems of the college that most directly relates to his continuance in that college. Given prior-levels of goal and institutional commitment, it is the person's normative and structural integration into the academic and social systems that lead to new levels of commitment. Other things being equal, the higher the degree of integration of the individual into the college system, the greater will be his commitment to the specific institution and to the goal of college completion (Tinto, 1975, p.96).

Tinto's model described how both goal and institutional commitment impact academic and social interaction respectively. He created a diagram that displayed peer and faculty interactions (social integration), academic performance, and intellectual development (academic integration) as the determining factors leading to a complete integration into college. This notion led to various studies regarding the possible correlation between active learning and persistence (Braxton, Jones, Hirschy, & Hartley, 2008; Braxton, Milem, & Sullivan (2000); Dahlgren et al., 2005).

For instance, Braxton et al. (2000) researched active learning and persistence in an effort to review and expand on Tinto's (1975) original student departure theory. Braxton and his associates (2000) argued that Tinto's model did not effectively describe the concept of social integration and proposed that the use of active learning techniques through student-peer and student-faculty interactions led to higher levels of social integration and student retention. They hypothesised that students who are involved in active learning in the classroom are likely to spend more time socializing with peers and spend less time studying because they have acquired greater in-depth knowledge of the course material while in class. They also gathered that through active learning based activities, students develop friendships and peer support groups. They proposed "...active learning course practices may directly influence social integration and

indirectly affect subsequent institutional commitment and student departure decisions" (Braxton et al., 2000, p. 572). Specifically they explored the extent of social interaction, institutional commitment, and persistence resulting from the use of the following active learning techniques:

- class discussion;
- knowledge-level examination questions;
- group work; and
- higher order thinking activities (Braxton et al., 2000, p.572).

Their studies concluded various results. First, both class discussion and higher-order thinking activities had a positive and direct influence on social integration (p. 577). Secondly, class discussion and social integration had direct and indirect influences on institutional commitment and persistence, whereas higher-order thinking practices had an indirect influence only on these two measures. The research further concluded that group work and knowledge-level exam questions influence institutional commitment and persistence but not in a meaningful way. It is important to note that knowledge-level exam questions in this study were initially determined to be an active learning technique but was further defined as non-active learning because it promoted surface-based learning of the course content (p. 576). Interestingly, the research concluded that knowledge-level exam questions negatively affected social integration, institutional commitment, and persistence levels.

Braxton, Jones, Hirschy, and Hartley (2008) extend on prior research performed by Braxton, Milem and Sullivan (2000) and also evaluated the importance of the faculty's use of active learning techniques in the classroom and the practices' affects on students' social integration, institutional commitment, and persistence. One difference in this study is that it also attempted to evaluate the effect of active learning on a student's perception of the institution's

level of commitment to his or her welfare. Braxton et al. (2008) described this attribute as an important measure because the student interprets the use of active learning to mean that the faculty are interested in student success and that the institution is interested and committed to student welfare (p.74). Their findings resulted in various conclusions, namely that the use of active learning techniques positively influences the student's perception of the university or college's commitment to the student's wellbeing. They noted the following:

The positive relationship between active learning and student perception of the institution's commitment to student welfare indicates that pedagogical practices that encourage students to engage in doing and thinking during class as opposed to passively listening influences students' belief about how much their institution cares about their success (Braxton et al., 2008, p. 80).

Although Braxton et al.'s (2008) research did not reveal a direct correlation between active learning and persistence, it successfully demonstrated an indirect link. The study revealed that factors such as a student's commitment to the institution and their perception that the institution cares about his or her wellbeing influence the student's degree of social integration into the college community, thus affecting the student likelihood to persist (Braxton et al. 2000; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005, p. 426).

Dalhgren et al.'s (2005) research also investigated whether the use of active learning techniques, specifically group-work activities, affected student persistence. The results revealed that of the students who attended classes with the professors who used both lecture and group activities, 93% persisted to the end of term and wrote all of their exams. On the other hand, of the students attending the lecture-based classes, only 80% persisted to the end of term.

For the purposes of the current study, the studies conducted by Braxton et al. (2000, 2008) and Dahlgren et al. (2005) are quite significant as they emphasized the positive influence of the use of active learning practices in the classroom on student persistence. It also clearly underlines the important role that faculty, in particular, play in a student's decision to continue in postsecondary.

Faculty Behaviours and Student Persistence

The literature review so far has explored the impact of teaching practices and classroom experiences in relation to student engagement and persistence. Faculty behaviours are another important factor to consider when evaluating student academic achievement and persistence. Kuh, Kinzie, Schuh, and White's (2005) article provided an overview of student engagement indicators at high performing institutions. The article focused on the main factors that contribute the student success at colleges and universities selected for the DEEP project and outlined institutional practices that clearly linked student engagement factors to student success and enhanced learning outcomes; "Improving the quality of learning and teaching is pretty much the order of the day at DEEP schools" (p. 46). The general mission of these institutions is to employ faculty and staff who share and adhere to the college or university's educational values. DEEP schools "unapologetically emphasize to potential faculty the importance of high-quality undergraduate teaching and probe the extent to which potential hires are enthusiastic about and committed to it" (p.49). The DEEP project emphasised the importance of teaching and learning and focused on institutional factors, particularly faculty behaviours and teaching practices and their influence on student engagement and success.

Faculty behaviours and their use of effective teaching practices greatly influence students' perceptions of their own academic success (Pascarella, Seifert & Whitt, 2008;

Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005; Kinzie, 2010). Pascarella et al. (2008) reviewed the effects of effective classroom teaching on student persistence and revealed that student exposure to faculty behaviours such as clarity of instruction, organization, and preparedness of content materials, and student-faculty classroom interactions greatly influence a student's decision to persist. They noted that because these students are more satisfied with their educational experience they are more likely to remain at the institution (p.67).

Thomas' (2002) qualitative research also studied the role of faculty behaviours, intuitional values, and their influence student retention. Thomas described the faculty members' roles as fundamental to ensuring students overall success in higher education. During the focus group sessions with students, faculty-student relationships were deemed very important. Thomas noted, "If students feel that staff believe in them, and care about the outcomes of their studying, they seem to gain both self-confidence and motivation, and their work improves" (p.432). Thomas' study also revealed that important behaviours such as, respect for students, empathy, accessibility to, and support from faculty, greatly affects how the student perceives his relationship with the faculty and the institution thus influencing his or her decision to continue post-secondary education.

Faculty Influence on Student Persistence

Tinto's (1975) original theory explored student engagement and persistence factors, and noted in his later studies that researchers have ignored the academic aspects in engagement research models (Tinto, 1997). Furthermore, he stated that researchers have so far underestimated the value and importance of the classroom experience, academic behaviours, and the faculty's role in student engagement and persistence. His study highlighted the impact of learning communities, the importance of various social aspects of the learning environment, and

their positive correlations to student persistence. Demaris and Kritsonis's (2008) article echoed Tinto's statement that there is very little research exploring the postsecondary classroom and its effects on student satisfaction and persistence. The article determined that the classroom environments, student involvement, and student perceptions of the classroom experience are key factors in student satisfaction and persistence. Svanum and Bigatti's (2009) work also investigated the impact of academic engagement factors on student persistence and concluded that, "Academically engaged students were indeed more likely to attain a degree..." (p. 128). As more research explores the factors that influence student engagement, learning, and persistence at college, it is becoming clear that faculty play a crucial role.

Tinto's (1997, 1998) work investigating classrooms as communities sparked a thorough review of faculty's role in the classroom and their influence on student engagement and persistence outcomes. Umbach and Wawrzynski (2005) examined the value and importance that college faculty have on student behaviours, engagement, and academic success. This study focused specifically on faculty who encourage cooperation among students, support active learning, and communicate high learning expectations and outcomes for their students. The study also surveyed faculty who use active learning techniques and who promote student-faculty contact in and outside the classroom. The results showed that students displayed higher levels of engagement, as well as elevated learning outcomes at institutions where faculty reported they emphasized the use of best practices in the classroom environment and challenged students in their lessons. Umbach and Wawrzynski, (2005) concluded that faculty behaviours and teaching practices are critical for academic success, have a profound effect on students, and "play the single-most important role in student learning" (p. 176).

Other engagement studies linked faculty involvement and academic practices with student academic success and persistence, particularly at liberal arts colleges (Demaris & Kritsonis, 2008; Nelson Laird et al., 2008; Tinto, 1997, 1998; Seifert et al. 2010; Umbach & Wawrynski, 2005). However, researchers are concentrating more on retention efforts at community and commuter colleges as a number of today's students have various other priorities such as work, and family (Nelson Laird et al., 2008). Oftentimes for these types of students, their only social interactions while on campus are in the classroom with their peers and professors. With less time spent interacting with classmates outside of class, students' social engagement and integration needs fall heavily on the professors and other classroom related interactions and activities. Nelson Laird et al. (2008) noted the following observation from their research:

The majority of students commute to school, with most working at some point during their studies, some many hours a week. For these students and nontrivial numbers who attend so-called residential campuses but live off-campus, the classroom is the only venue where they regularly have face-to-face contact with faculty or staff members and other students. This means that classroom learning environments and teaching and learning practices are ever more important, all of which makes the instructor's job more demanding and complicated (p. 86).

Students who commute and those who do not spend time on campus outside of classroom hours certainly face more challenges in the area of social integration. Therefore, academic integration, described as academic performance and intellectual development (Tinto, 1975), is critical in order for these students to succeed (Halpin, 1990). Halpin's (1990), study examined first-year commuter-college students and the influence of academic integration on persistence.

His findings demonstrated that students are particularly impressed with institutions that have faculty who are concerned for their academic and intellectual development, and if there are opportunities to interact with faculty. Furthermore, Halpin stated that students are more likely to become integrated and therefore persist, at institutions that promote more student-faculty contact by way of smaller class sizes, and accessible, involved faculty members (p.31).

Canadian college administration can learn a great deal from the teaching practices used at many liberal arts colleges situated in the United States. Liberal arts colleges tend to promote effective educational practices more than other types of institutions. Umbach and Wawrzynski's (2005) research demonstrated that students at liberal arts colleges are active, engaged learners. Seifert et al. (2010) also determined that students at liberal arts colleges experienced good teaching and quality interactions with faculty. It is also important to note that today's community college students differ greatly from those of the past. The Ontario government's Reaching Higher (2005) plan announced that more and more students, regardless of their academic background, age, and socioeconomic status, now have the opportunity to attend and access post-secondary education. However, a growing number of these students are less academically prepared, posing further challenges to both the incoming students and faculty members. Therefore, it is essential for faculty to explore alternative teaching methods, such as active teaching and learning, and possibly adjust their classroom behaviours in order to effectively instruct students at different academic attainment levels and with varying learning styles.

Summary

Post-secondary institutions are constantly measuring their performance based on student satisfaction, retention, and graduation rates, through various institutional and provincial surveys

and reports. These types of scorecards and reports are necessary because they help institutions track their performance and measure students overall satisfaction of the college's academic programs, quality of instruction, and provision of services to students. Post-secondary institutions also use these reports to identify barriers to student success and retention, and to provide administrators the opportunity to make the adjustments necessary to ensure that students receive a quality education and a positive college experience. These report mechanisms also show where the institution is successful and allows administration to continue to improve on the initiatives and strategies that are working.

Clearly, all areas of the institution have a significant role to play at ensuring that the students' experience at college is gratifying and successful. However, as student populations continue to grow in numbers and as their backgrounds and academic requirements become more diverse in nature, the role of college faculty is always changing and expanding. As Tinto (1975) expressed, academic and social integration are key components to student academic success, engagement, and persistence. Therefore, faculty are not only charged with ensuring that students learn the course material, they are becoming the core of the college experience for a growing number of students whose only time spent on campus is in the classroom.

Years of research have demonstrated that faculty behaviours and use of active learning techniques in the classroom contribute to a host of positive outcomes for students, most notably, student engagement and academic success. Nelson Laird et al. (2008) findings determined that faculty classroom practices that foster academic challenge in the form of active and collaborative learning environments and support for students are optimal determinants for success and persistence. Faculty classroom behaviours such as clarity of instruction and organization of the course content can also influence students' decisions to persist in post-secondary (Pascarella et

al., 2008; Thomas, 2002). Active leaning promotes deeper and higher-order thinking, enhanced attitudes toward course material, increased ability to retain course content, and enhance classroom participation (Callahan's (2008); Armbruster et al., (2009); Dahlgren et al., 2005). The research also concluded that active learning in the form of classroom discussions with faculty and peers, group work, and other active learning techniques influences students' institutional commitment and student perceptions of institutional commitment toward student welfare, two other factors known to influence student persistence. Thus, it is conceivable that faculty behaviours and use active learning techniques do influence students' decisions to persist in their college endeavours.

Yet, despite the growing body of evidence showing that faculty's use of active learning techniques relates to positive student learning outcomes, many faculty members still subscribe to lecturing as their main teaching technique (Weimer, 2010). Weimer's (2010) analysis of faculty teaching practices and classroom behaviours identified that faculty perceptions of how students learn and want to learn, as well as a sense of tradition might influence the faculty's tendency toward lecturing (p83). Weimer recommended that faculty use active learning to engage student in their learning activities rather than have them wait for the learning to be "done unto them" (p. 83). Furthermore, based on their findings, Umbach and Wawrzynski (2005) strongly recommended that college administration find ways to support and reward faculty members who are committed to providing quality learning environments and support for their students. Thus, the challenge for institutional leadership is to educate, train and promote the benefits of the use of active learning techniques to faculty, and provide support and rewards to faculty who demonstrate classroom behaviours and practices that engage students and foster persistence.

The researcher of the current study anticipates that the qualitative data gathered and analyzed through the focus group sessions will match the vast amount of empirical data from previous research. The researcher will then create a useful list of recommendations that faculty can use as guidelines in the structuring or revising of course curriculum, outlines, and classroom preparation and delivery.

CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY

Population and Sample

The population for this research includes second year level students from all academic schools at XXXX College, a mid-sized community college in XXXXX, Ontario. The researcher anticipates that students ranging in ages 19 to 24, both male and female, of varying ethnic backgrounds and programs of study will volunteer to participate in this study. It is possible that some adult learners will also volunteer to participate in the focus group sessions. The researcher decided to study second year students because they have already demonstrated their ability or willingness to persist from their first year to their second year of post-secondary education.

The researcher will invite students from each of the following seven academic schools at XXXX College to participate in the study:

- 1. School of Media, Art & Design
- 2. School of Business, IT & Management
- 3. School of Justice & Emergency Services
- 4. School of Health & Community Services
- 5. School of Science & Engineering Technology
- 6. School of Interdisciplinary Studies & Employment Services
- 7. School of Skilled Trades, Apprenticeship & Renewable Technology

The researcher expects to attract approximately five to seven students from each school for a total of approximately 35 to 50 second-year students.

Secondary data was evaluated mainly from 1997 to 2010 with the exception of two reference from 1975 and 1987, which where used as historical resources to ground the topic in both theory and practice.

Data Collection Methods

The researcher requested and was granted permission from XXXX College's Vice President, Academic as well as each Academic school Dean to invite the college's students to participate in the focus group sessions. The letters of permission are provided in APPENDIX A. The researcher was also granted permission to request assistance from each of the academic schools' Student Liaisons in order to promote the research study to students. The researcher created an invitation and the Student Liaisons will forward it via e-mail to their schools' second-year students. The invitation (see APPENDIX B) clearly describes the purpose of the study and requests that students volunteer to participate in a hour-long focus group session.

The researcher will facilitate the focus group sessions, and lead a question and answer discussion with the students regarding their perceptions of their faculty's classroom behaviours and use active learning techniques. The participants will also be asked whether their faculty's behaviour or use of active learning had in any way influenced their desire or decision to persist in their educational endeavours. See APPENDIX C for the list of focus group session questions.

The focus group session discussions will be audio recorded and the researcher will manually transcribe the feedback from students and group discussion as much as possible during the sessions. The audio recording will assist in the data gathering, transcription, and analysis processes.

The participants will also be asked to fill in a brief survey consisting of demographic type questions which will be used to describe and categorize the types of students who participated in the study. The participant consent form and survey questions are provided in APPENDIX D.

The subjects' identities will remain confidential and they will be asked not to identify themselves or other students who participated in the focus group sessions.

Variables and Measures

The variables in the present research study include the number and the different types of students who volunteer to participate in the study. The number of students who participate in the focus group sessions may influence the quality of the output; the larger the group, the greater is the opportunity for a variety of points of view and responses collected for analysis. Also, certain demographic characteristics of the participants such as age, gender, and progam of study may influence the discussions and the outcomes for the study.

The survey uses a nominal scale to collect some general data regarding the participants' characteristics. The survey will gather demographic data such as age, gender, and level of education of the students as well as information pertaining to some of the themes reviewed in the study.

Data Analysis Methods

The researcher will observe the data, form opinions, and develop conclusions. The data will be analyzed to determine if the it supports or does not support the hypotheses. The researcher will gather the data using audio recordings and manual transciption methods during the focus group sessions. Note-takers may be present during the sessions as well to help gather the data and feedback from the students throughout the group discussions. Once the recordings and handwriten notes are transcribed, the researcher will carefully explore the data in search of general sense and sentiments of each focus group participants. The information will then be coded and categorized in search of common, broad themes. Finally, the researcher will analyze the data based on the research hypotheses and will determine whether or not the data supports the hypothesis statements.

The data gathered from the initial survey questionnaire (APPENDIX D) will be reviewed and categorized in order to form a general analysis of the types of students who participated in the study. The data from the survey questionnaire will not be used as correlational evidence in support of, or against the hypotheses.

Hypotheses

- Hypothesis 1: Professors' use of active learning techniques in the classroom will lead to higher student retention rates.
- Hypothesis 2: Since active learning contributes to student engagement and student engagement leads to student persistence, then active learning influences student persistence.
- Hypothesis 3: Professors' classroom behaviours influence students' decisions to persist in college.
- Hypothesis 4: Students can identify specific classroom practices that influence their decision to persist.
- Hypothesis 5: Professors play an important role in student success and student persistence.
- Hypothesis 6: The qualitative data gathered in the focus group sessions with students will match the emperical data from previous research studies on the topics highlighted in the current research study.

CHAPTER IV: ANALYSIS OF THE DATA

Data Analysis

This study examines participants' perceptions of faculty classroom behaviours and teaching techniques that affect student success and influence their decision to remain in school. The qualitative data analysis in this study was a complex process, whereby the researcher reviewed the transcription notes for common themes and specific commentary gathered from the participants' responses to the questions.

For the purposes of this study, the researcher collected data over the course of several days, between September 29 and October 12, 2010. The researcher facilitated five focus group sessions with second-year XXXX College students. There are approximately 2500 second-year students enrolled at XXXX College; in all, twelve students participated in the focus group sessions and provided their impressions in response to the questions posed by the researcher (see APPENDIX C for focus group questionnaire). The researcher gathered information regarding student perceptions of their professors' behaviours and teaching techniques that possibly influenced their decisions to persist in college programs. Based on the participants' feedback, the researcher compared the data with the empirical evidence described in the literature review and formulated a set of recommendations, which are outlined in Chapter V.

Demographic data was gathered from each participant using a survey questionnaire (See APPENDIX D) in order to form a general idea of the types of students who participated in the study. As per the survey data described in the table (see APPENDIX E), the twelve participants who attended focus group sessions were asked to complete the survey prior to the focus group session. The researcher specifically used second-year students as subjects for this study since

they have demonstrated persistence from first to second year, therefore able to provide the feedback and perspectives necessary to fulfill the objectives of this research. Of the participants, seven females and five males were aged 18 and over, whereby 50% were between the ages of 18 and 24 and 50% were over the age of 25. The highest level of education acquired by the majority of the participants, 66.6%, was a secondary school diploma, whereas 50% had been enrolled in another postsecondary academic program or institution and 33% had obtained another college creditial at one time or another. These figures, along with the fact that the participants were all second-year students, demonstrates they are persisters and appropriate subjects for this study.

The survey also questioned student status and asked the participants to categorize themselves as per the following characteristics: traditional student; first generation; second career; international; or mature student. It also asked if the students work while they were in school, whether or not they commute and how much time they spend on campus outside of classroom hours. When these questions were originally devised for the survey, the researcher anticipated a larger group of participants and expected to correlate the survey data with the empirical data. Since only twelve students volunteered in the focus group sessions, the survey data is insufficient to be conclusive or correlational to the empirical evidence described in the literature. Therefore, the data from the survey questionnaire will not be used as correlational evidence in support of or against the hypotheses.

Increasing student retention rates is an ongoing and complex issue for postsecondary institutions since there are various factors that contribute to students' decisions to stay or leave school. As described in the literature review, there is clear evidence demonstrating that faculty behaviours and teaching techniques do have a significant effect on student learning outcomes

and influence students in their decision to persist. Pascarella, Seifert and Whitt (2008) revealed that students are more likely to re-enroll in postsecondary institutions if they are exposed to well organized and effective classroom instruction. Faculty behaviours such as organization, clarity of instruction, and presentation skills were some of the behaviours discussed during the focus group sessions. Students are also influenced by faculty who they feel believe in them and their accomplishments. Thomas's (2002) research concluded that students gained both self-confidence and motivation when they perceived that their professors were genuinly concerned about them and their academic success.

Faculty teaching techniques also influence students, and the use of active learning in the classroom clearly contributes to increased student engagement and persistence. Students demonstrate increased engagement when active teaching techniques are employed in the classroom. Active learning is attributed to enhanced knowledge of the course content, increased higher-order thinking skills, improved attitutes toward the course, and overall higher academic performance (Callahan, 2008; Armbruster et al., 2009). The following hypothesis analysis provides an overview of students' perceptions of their classroom experiences and the role of their professors.

Hypothesis Analysis

The research project analysed six hypotheses to determine if faculty behaviours and the use of active learning techniques influence student persistence.

Hypothesis 1: Professors' use of active learning techniques in the classroom will lead to higher student retention rates.

In response to question eight, the participants of this study all agreed that the majority of their professors used some form of active learning techniques in the classroom. The researcher provided the participants with a definition of active learning and listed the following examples of active learning techniques:

- Class discussion
- Teamwork in small groups
- Group presentations
- Problem solving exercises with or without peers
- Relating tasks or discussions to student everyday life and past experiences
- Visual-based instruction
- Case studies
- Debates
- Roleplaying and simulation
- Peer teaching

The participants agreed that their professors used many of the techniques listed above when presenting the course material. The following evidence in support of the first hypothesis demontrates that the use of active learning techniques and teaching methods that enhance the lectures contribute to student engagement and will lead to higher student retention rates.

In questions two and three, focus group participants were asked to think about their preferred courses and their experiences in their first year of postsecondary at XXXX College.

They were also asked to identify the professors' teaching techniques that encouraged them to learn the course content and kept them engaged in those classes. The participants' responses were varied, and they listed different teaching methods that enhanced their classroom experience

and made courses more stimulating. The majority of the participants agreed that describing personal experiences, telling stories related to the lecture topic, and relating the material to everyday situations were both interesting and engaging. For example, one participant described the technique as follows:

And real world examples, or relating things to the real world is if we're doing something in class that we will actually be doing in the field or when we get out of school it's great as opposed to something that you know like you're like okay we're never going to do this why are we doing this, we're going to lose interest right there. The technique is the relationship to, you know, the actual experiences. *[sic]*

The participants explained that relating personal experiences and telling stories often led to class participation and opened the floor for further discussions. One student remarked that when her professors related their personal and professional experiences to the lecture, it helped her memorize the course content, and better understand the concepts of the lessons.

Other active learning techniques identified by the participants were class and group discussions and debates, as well as the use of powerpoint slides and videos relating to the lecture and lesson topics. The students agreed that group discussions and class debates encouraged them to learn from their peers as well, as one student noted, when asked if the professor's teaching techniques helped to learn the course content:

Again, I'll make the reference back to university. If I was in a classroom sitting there every week listening to my professor talk, it was like everything was going in one ear and out the other. I didn't get anything. Here it's like the, you know, their techniques when they're doing the group, like the group work for example because we're teaching each other, and we're talking about different things since everyone gets to talk about it with

each other we're also learning while we're speaking to each other which I really like because then everyone in the group kinda gets it at the same time and everyone learns it at the same time. [sic]

Here again, the participants commented that group assignments, discussions and debates helped them grasp the course concepts and kept them engaged in the material. However, three participants argued that group work was not their preferred teaching method and favoured completing group work assignments in class if and when permitted.

The participants also noted that reviewing and discussing assignments, labs and exercises in class with the professor kept them engaged, encouraged them to learn and retain the course content, and made them want to return to class. One participant described the following experiences:

I personally liked it when I was just able to go in and have everything given to me, so all the notes, all the work done and then have something assigned that we take up the next time to see if you actually learned what you've taken up that day. 'Cause there were other classes where you'd be given all this work and then class time to work on it. I'd like to have more, a lot more review in my classes before I go home and attempted to do it myself. I kinda like the teaching. [sic]

Several students also mentioned that they appreciated having access to the class materials, such as assignments, PowerPoint slides, or notes in Word format in advance of the class or lab. They acknowledged that having the notes and slides in advance helped them prepare for class and allowed them to focus on the lecture and presentation rather than having to take extensive notes during the class.

One student noted that "the use of technology is huge". PowerPoint slides and videos specifically relating to the topic and other visual aids were described as helpful learning tools by a number of students. One group noted how much they also appreciated their professor's use of audio lectures posted on WebCT. They agreed that the ability to review the lecture helped them retain the materials and reinforced the concepts.

Two groups mentioned that the hands-on exercises and simulations lab settings were beneficial because they provided the students with valuable, practical experiences and allowed them to review and practice what they had learned during the lectures. However, the same groups also noted that students should be alloted more time in the labs, and the college should acquire more lab equipment in order to add value and increase the effectiveness of the time spent in the labs.

When asked if the participants had ever considered dropping a course or leaving college altogether but decided to stay because of the teaching techniques used by the professors, the answers varied from "no, overall I had a good experience," and "no, I picked the right program," to "yes, teaching techniques made the difference especially group work and presentations." Some of the participants who considered dropping out mentioned that the professors' teaching techniques influenced their decision to stay in the course or the program. One participant noted the following:

I guess some of the stuff I was doing over the summer time is knowledge that I wish I had. There was this semester and in one class, just the way he [the professor] provides you with the information I was confident that I was going to come in and I was going to learn what I needed to know because I know the way that he sets things out and it's very,

you know, specific and I talked to him before about what we would be learning. So, I was looking forward to coming back to learn that stuff. And actually that was one of the classes when I was really thinking about not coming back. It's like, you know, I should stay and it would be really good to learn this stuff. So, his teaching techniques really brought me back. [sic]

The evidence so far has established that students are more engaged when professors use active learning techniques in the classroom. Furthermore, the literature review demonstrated that faculty indirectly influence student persistence when they use active learning techniques in the classroom. When students are engaged by their professors, they believe that their professors and the institution are truly committed to their success and concerned about their wellbeing, thus indirectly promoting persistence (Braxton, Milem & Sullivan, 2000; Braxton, Jones, Hirschy & Hartley, 2008; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005). Prior research also revealed that active learning leads to increased social interactions with peers and professors, a factor also believed to influence student persistence (Braxton, Milem & Sullivan, 2000). Most of the participants mentioned that they enjoyed class discussions and debates. One student noted, "I liked the debates; I liked the interactions between the groups."

Status of Hypothesis 1: The data supports the hypothesis. Together with the research examined in the literature review, the data presented in support of hypothesis 1 demonstrates that the use of active learning in the classroom will lead to higher student retention rates. The evidence also established that professors' use of active learning techniques engages students and enhances the classroom experience.

Hypothesis 2: Since active learning contributes to student engagement, and student engagement leads to student persistence, then active learning influences student persistence.

Kuh, Cruce, Shoup, Kinzie, and Gonyea's (2008) research determined that first-year students have better grades and are more likely to proceed to second year when they are engaged in their academic activities. The students who participated in the focus group sessions unanimously agreed that they performed better academically when they were engaged in a course. The students noted they were more interested and focused on the subjects, and they exhibited more self-discipline with their studies. In response to question five, one student stated that when he was engaged in a course, he felt more passion and he wanted to learn more about the subject; "[when you are engaged]...shows that you're interested, you have a passion for it... that you want to learn as much as possible because you know you'll be using it later." Another student admitted that she does not retain as much in the courses for which she is lacking interest:

If I'm not engaged in it obviously I'm sleeping...I'm not going to be learning a thing...I should be trying even in courses I don't like...but you have to be engaged, or you're not going to get a thing out of that course. [sic]

Furthermore, students could easily recognize when they were engaged in their courses. In question four, participants were asked to describe how they behaved in classes they were engaged in. Most of the participants identified very similar behaviours and mentioned when they are engaged in a class they are more alert, ask, and answer questions, and they take part in discussions and classroom activities. They also noted that they know they are engaged because they put forth more effort in their studies and they do more research so they can continue learning. On the other hand, when they are not engaged, they observed that they are easily

distracted, and sometimes fall asleep in class. Other students mentioned that they would skip classes that they did not like or in which they did not feel intellectually stimulated.

Furthermore, focus group participants identified several active learning techniques that engaged them in the classroom and helped them retain the course content. Among the most popular techniques, participants noted relating personal experiences and class discussions.

Nearly all the students remarked that the lessons improved when professors related the course content to their real-world experiences in the field. One student said, "Relaying of personal experiences by professors was helpful. They have shared stories and experiences and helped us understand that problems arise, but solutions can be found." When another participant was asked question three regarding what teaching techniques helped her retain the course content, she answered:

I like it when examples are based on relating personal experiences. It's very interesting to know about their work and I memorize it better. If they link their experience to the topic, I memorize it for sure. [sic]

The participants also mentioned that they enjoyed class discussions because they learn more about the topic and gained knowledge from their professors and their peers again by listening to other people's experiences. One participant described his preference for class discussions:

One professor...spoke to the whole class, got into discussions; wasn't opposed to discussing stuff in class instead of following his outline strictly which I think personally creates the best ideas and the best discussion when you get a thing rolling, you get more people involved...instead of just sitting and listening to somebody talk. [sic]

Of class discussions, one student stated, "...when I take part in a discussion and I get to a test, I think, "hey, I remember talking about this", so it makes things a bit easier...It keeps it more recent." Class discussions and in-class group work, also increases faculty-student and peer interactions and strengthens social interactions (Braxton et al., 2000). In response to question two regarding teaching techniques that kept the students engaged, another participant remarked how she appreciated it when her professor asked questions throughout his lesson and she stated the following:

Asking questions so it isn't just our teacher talking the entire time. Teachers breathe life into the courses they teach-but it is their choice to do so. My science teacher even said himself, it's worth seeing a light bulb turn on when a student understands something, you can see it. And it's very rewarding. Teachers that motivate and praise and keep a positive environment. Then there should be no reason to not want to attend class. *[sic]*

The aforementioned examples demonstrate that students are can identify active learning techniques that keep them engaged in their studies and enhance their learning and retention of course content. They also agree that they perform better academically in courses in which they are engaged. Furthermore, most of the participants agree that in some instances, their professors' teaching techniques influence their decisions to remain in a course, program, or college in general. When asked focus group question seven, some students answered that at one point or another, the professors' instruction method encouraged them to attend and participate in class, as noted in the following statement:

Attending class is extremely important...They [the professors] post the PowerPoint but there is so much extra in the class so it's important to attend the lectures...There are

discussions and the floor is always open for questions or clarifications. If you have a train of thought during the lecture, you can raise your hand and have your questions answered.

Status of Hypothesis 2: The data supports the hypothesis. Together with the evidence displayed in Hypothesis 1, the use of active learning techniques in the classroom contributes to student engagement and influences student persistence.

Hypothesis 3: Professors' classroom behaviours influence students' decisions to persist in college.

This study also asked second year XXXX College students to identify their professors' qualities, interpersonal skills, and behaviours, exhibited inside the classroom. The focus group participants explained that personal qualities such as happy, humourous, personable, and friendly were behaviours that kept them engaged in their studies and made them want to come to class. One student explained, "Our teacher really made it fun for us, put humour into it...helps you remember things better." The following passage describes another participant's experience:

The professors know who you are, they're very personal with you, and they really interact with the students, which I like. They know my writing styles, they know who I am by name, and they always used humour in the classroom. [sic]

Students noted that they also appreciated those professors who are flexible and understanding, as well as those who are helpful and spend time assisting the students. Furthermore, students indicated that they want to be treated equitably and with respect. One student mentioned that she liked it when "they [the professors] allowed us to call them by their first name which made them seem more approachable."

Students also mentioned that they preferred teachers who evidently enjoyed teaching. They identified characteristics such as knowledgeable and passionate about the material, and commitment to student success. An article entitled "Creating the Perfect Instructor" (Inside Higher Ed, 2010), lists eight qualities that students look for in the perfect instructor. The top quality, identified by 30.5 percent of the students, is "good teaching", followed by general positivity at 28.1 percent. They also noted that they appreciated professors who are still involved or working in the industry and those who share relevant information about the sector or trade. One student described what he values in a professor in the following statement:

He was good with questions too and conversation...and he'll find answers for you right away. It just seems like those guys, you can really tell, they are the ones who have been working in the industry for a long time, which I think is key for professors. They have the experience and they are still involved in it somehow; and it really shows in their behaviour and their skills because they are passionate about what they do and they pass that on to the student and that's why I felt those are the classes that I felt were a good learning experiences. *[sic]*

As mentioned in the analysis of Hypothesis 1, students learn more about the course content when they understand its usefulness and can relate what they are learning to their own experiences or to those of their professors'.

In addition, the participants indicated behaviours such as professionalism, organizational skills, and being well prepared for class as those that influenced their perceptions of the professors. Pascarella, Seifert, and Whitt's (2008) research defined organizational skills and preparation as "effective use of class time and use of course objectives" (p. 56), and a focus

group participant of this study noted that "being organized is a big deal...organization makes all the difference in the world." Another student commented professors should come to class prepared for the lesson and deliver high-quality teaching: "if the professor is expecting good quality than they have to deliver good quality teaching." Furthermore, the participants noted that presentation skills and the ability to manage the classroom also enhanced their educational experiences. The students pointed out that professors who maintained good control of the classroom were able to keep the students free from distractions, allowing for a more favourable learning environment.

When asked if these types of interpersonal behaviours and skills influenced their decision to persist, a number of students indicated that although certain interpersonal skills made for an improved and more engaging classroom experience, their professors' behaviours did not influence their decision to remain in school. Some participants noted that in order to graduate, they have no option to drop any of their courses. Others answered that they "want to finish because we've come this far...no sense in dropping out half way through". Moreover, some stated that they are pleased with their program and had no intention of dropping out.

However, two students remarked that certain professors' behaviours had definitely influenced their decision to persist. One Second-Career student described how her professor helped her overcome her personal challenges in the following account:

For my course, I must attend fitness. This summer my family doctor phone and said I have osteoporosis. So I cannot, physically, I cannot attend and I start to have like, back pain. But I have to and I really, really like my teacher; she is so enthusiastic and I do as much as I can even what is prohibited for me, but I try to do it. And, I think that the

teacher can see when a person really tries or when someone is just lazy. I didn't know I would pass but I did so good. [sic]

Another student explained the story of how two of his professors successfully encouraged him to stay in college when he was struggling with personal conflicts and academic pressures:

Yes, I did have a professor who convinced me to stay. She spent quite a bit of time sitting down with me because I had quite a bit of stress. She assured me to stay. I was ready to go. She bought me a coffee, sat me down; she wanted me to get through it... Actually, and somebody else – I went in the office and telling my problems and life story. He didn't care about the college numbers; it was about me. *[sic]*

Both of these examples illustrate that faculty interactions and their behaviours toward students can influence students' decisions to persist in college. Personality traits such as commitment to students, flexibility, empathy, and sympathy demonstrate to students that their professors care about their well-being and their personal and academic success (Thomas, 2002). One student expressed what she values in her professors:

[Professors] teach you what you needed to know and would do extra hours with people if they needed help. It's when you can see in your teacher that they want to see you succeed and help you as much as possible. [sic]

Status of Hypothesis 3: Inconclusive: although professors' behaviours and interpersonal skills can enhance the classroom experience, the majority of the students interviewed in the focus group sessions indicated that they would have carried on their studies regardless of their professors' interpersonal behaviours.

Hypothesis 4: Students can identify specific classroom practices that influence their decision to persist.

Focus group questions six and seven asked participants if their professors' classroom behaviours or teaching techniques had ever influenced them to persist in a course, program, or college in general. Some of the students indicated that they did not intend to leave college because they enjoyed the programs in which they are enrolled and are committed to complete them. One participant remarked, "It was my own motivation to stay in the program. You all want to stay in the program. Look at the long-term goal. This has always been in my heart. This is my motivation." These same students admitted that although some of the courses were difficult, they had no intension of dropping any of them because they needed to complete them in order to graduate. Others remarked that since they are now in their second year of school, there was no sense in dropping out and they too intended to finish.

In contrast, the students who had considered leaving college or dropping a course indicated that teacher responsiveness made a difference and influenced them to stay. They remarked how important it was that their professors responded to their inquiries and their academic needs in a timely manner. One student, who considered dropping a class mentioned that the teaching skills made a difference for her:

When things got tough, my teacher was willing to meet me with to help. No matter when, no matter how many times I needed help. He understood everyone learns a different way, so he tries his best to teach his material in more than one way.

In the following account, another student recalls her anxiety about taking her first on-line classroom experience:

I was scared because I thought I could not ask anyone for help. I would have to do everything by myself. And my first reaction was to drop this class. But then I realized that, okay, I can try and we will see. The teacher explained very well. When I asked her a question I thought I would wait many days or weeks before getting a response from the teacher and it would be too late; but she replied right away, immediately; not second day, she replied immediately! She was responsive. I didn't drop it and my last assignment I got 100%. [sic]

These students recognized that their professors' responsiveness helped them succeed and persist in their classes.

The students also mentioned that their professor were concerned for their well-being and success. One student, who considered leaving college, explained that his professors had a lot to do with his decision to persist. He was persuaded to stay and noted, "It's part of the college atmosphere; they want you to succeed. It was about me, not the teacher, not the numbers of the college."

Status of Hypothesis 4: The data supports the hypothesis. Although most students identified they had no intention of dropping their studies, those who had considered leaving college or dropping a class were able to identify professors' behaviours that influenced them to persist.

Hypothesis 5: Professors play an important role in student success and student persistence.

Based on the responses of the focus group participants, it is evident that students attribute the value of their learning experiences to the quality of the classroom activities and their professors' attitudes and behaviours toward the students and the subject matter. The participants' emphasised that a quality instruction includes interesting and stimulating lectures,

use of relevant examples, use of technology, lab and simulation exercises, and class discussions. They also underlined the importance of interpersonal behaviours such as organizational and presentation skills, passion, personable, knowledgeable, and the ability to teach. They attest that classroom practices and behaviours such as these enhanced both their levels of engagement, academic success, and contributed to student persistence.

In question 11 the researcher asked participants, "Who do you think has a bigger impact on your academic success, you, or your professor?" The majority of the responses acknowledged that the professors and the students were equally important in their educational outcomes, and their answers varied from, "yourself...you are the one learning," to "both...it's definitely 50/50." A few participants remarked that their professors exclusively were responsible for their success since the college hired and paid them to teach. One student stated that, "It should be the professor; we are the customer, and they should have the biggest impact on our success."

The participants', who attributed the onus of succeeding in their education upon themselves, highlighted that it was their own responsibility to attend classes, study, and complete the assignments. These students acknowledged that the professors' were accountable for the teaching aspect; however, in the end, it was the student's responsibility to do the learning, as one focus group participant stated:

...I have to say it's me, the student. For I am there to listen, do the work and in the end learn. My teachers are there to help and teach. I have to take the pride in my work, I have to take the time to study and understand, to learn. [sic]

These students also mentioned that the time and effort put into their education would make the difference in their success. Some students expressed the significant importance of being in the right program and being stimulated by, and passionate for, the subject matter, "...Good teachers help, but for the most part it's the student; you have to have passion and you have to love it or you're just asking to fail." [sic]

Some of the participants also attributed their success to both themselves and their professors. They noted that the professors are responsible for keeping the students motivated and engaged in their studies and compelled to learn, as one participant said, "It is a 50/50, you have to want to be taught, and the professors have to be willing to teach." One student expressed her feelings in the following explanation:

It's so hard to say. If I say just my professor and how good they are but I didn't make any effort, I wouldn't stay. I think it's both. I am nothing without them and I think [they are] the same without us as well. It's definitely both. [sic]

The final question the researcher asked the participants was what role they believed their professors played in their academic success. For the most part, the participants based their responses on their professors' role as educators. They highlighted that their professors' interpersonal behaviours were imperative, and they should support, motivate, and guide the students. The students also expect their professors' to provide quality instruction, to reinforce the course content, and to ensure they acquire the skills they need to be successful. One participant's comment summarized the overall sentiments in the following statement:

In my opinion, my teacher is my teacher. He or she is my mentor, my tutor, my friend and sometimes my motivator. They are the ones that can make or break a course or even

a program. They are the ones that make a class worth going to rather than just sitting in a chair for three hours straight. [sic]

Status of hypothesis 5: The data supports the hypothesis. Professors play an important role in the overall success of their students and influence student persistence. They act as mentors and provide academic guidance and emotional support to students. Good teachers also motivate students to learn. Students thus perceive that the institution is concerned for their overall well-being, enhancing their loyalty and influencing their decision to remain at that institution.

Hypothesis 6: The qualitative data gathered in the focus group sessions with students will match the empirical data from previous research studies on the topics highlighted in the current research study.

There is an abundance of literature and empirical data examining the significance of the professor's role in the classroom, particularly regarding the use of active learning techniques and the academic benefits of enhancing student engagement levels in the classroom. The following hypothesis analysis explored the relationship between the empirical data and the qualitative data gathered from the focus group sessions.

According to Kuh, Cruce, Shoup, Kinzie, and Gonyea (2008), student engagement is reflected by the amount of time students spend on academic activities inside and outside of the classroom. The purpose of Kuh et al.'s (2008) research was to "determine the relationship between student behaviours and institutional practices and conditions that foster student success" (p. 542). Kuh and his colleagues concluded that student engagement is related positively to academic outcomes and influences both grades and persistence. The focus group participants of the current study indicated that they were engaged in most of their courses, partly due to their

professors' teaching practices and behaviours and partly because of their own passion for their program and personal motivation to succeed. The participants agreed that enhanced engagement in their studies contributed to improved academic performance. One student commented that he "is more focused...more self-disciplined...and put more pressure on myself to learn the material...When you are engaged you will do better and your marks will display that." Furthermore, the participants described that when they were engaged in their studies, they attended class, asked more questions, and participated in class discussions.

The data revealed in various research studies also acknowledges the tremendous benefit active learning plays on student engagement, academic achievement, and persistence. Various studies concluded that the use of active learning in the classroom promoted higher order thinking skills and enhanced attitudes toward the subject matter (Callahan, 2008; Armbruster et. al, 2009) The use of active learning techniques such as practicing in group activities also contributed to improved student participation and learning (Dahlgren et. al, 2005). Furthermore, according to Braxton and his colleagues (2000), active learning techniques, such as classroom discussions and debates, led to increased student interactions between classmates and professors and positively influences student retention.

The empirical data detailed above matches the data gathered from the focus group sessions. The participants indicated that the use of active learning techniques such as class discussion, relating personal experiences, using technology, and group assignments contributed to their overall engagement and understanding of the course content. One student noted that she particularly liked group work and class discussions because of interactions with other students and she described her sentiments in the following statement:

The group work I liked a lot better...I like working with people a lot more I like having feedback from other people. So we did a lot of that which I liked. The class discussions... they [the professors] use that a lot, which you got to hear what everyone else wanted to say about something specific. It was fun because you could debate about different things...[sic]

Another student noted the following of the importance of attending class and participating in class discussion:

Attending class is extremely important. They [the professors] post the PowerPoint's but there is so much extra in the class so it's important to attend lectures. There are discussions and the floor is always open for questions or clarifications. If you have a train of thought during the lecture, you can raise your hand and have your questions answered. [sic]

Furthermore, active learning techniques, such as relating personal experiences and handson exercises helped develop problem-solving skills. According to an article written by
MacDonald (2010), including relevant examples in their lectures, professors are helping students
relate topics to their own experiences and enhancing their understand course content. One focus
group participant supported the article's conclusion when she stated, "While relating complicated
science to a real life application allows me to understand how things work, or why I would need
to learn this information in order to solve for an answer." [sic]

Professors' interpersonal skills and attitudes in the classroom also influenced student success and retention. Thomas' (2002) research concluded that behaviours such as respect and empathy for students affects their perceptions toward the institution and influences their decision

to remain in school. Two participants from the current research revealed that indeed their professors made a difference influenced their decision to persist. One stated that she thought of dropping out because of her husband's illness. She was grateful to her professors who encouraged her to stay and provided emotional support during a stressful period. She stated that her "teachers explained and helped me. They provided moral support...helped me to carry on. They supported me so much."

Faculty use of effective teaching practices, preparedness of course materials, organization, and presentation skills influenced student satisfaction, as well as their perceptions of the quality of their learning experiences (Pascarella, Seifert, & Whitt, 2008; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005). The current research also revealed that students have high expectations for their professors and highly commend those who are well organized and prepared for class. Some students remarked that professors who were not organized were not dedicated to the students or to teaching. The following statement acknowledges the significance of one student's feelings regarding his professors' organizational skills or lack thereof:

Organization makes all the difference in the world...Personally, I have feel I have a pretty high level of expectation from my own work and if they are setting expectations for us to have grammatically correct reports, correct spelling, correct layout, and on time - you expect that from me, then I expect that from you as a paid professional. And I am paying you...I'm the customer!... I expect you to be the leader, and in control, and organized and knowing what you are doing. [sic]

Timely responses to students also increase student perception of faculty. According to Fairchild's (2005) research, "Feedback provided on the Responsiveness to Students Survey

indicated that students perceived me as accessible, approachable, and helpful." (p.89). Students who participated in the current research also indicated the importance of timely responses and noted that quick responses to questions contributed to enhanced engagement levels, learning outcomes, and persistence. For one student the timeliness of the responses she received from her professor influenced her decision to stay in a course mandatory for completing her program:

When I asked her a question I thought I would wait many days or weeks before getting a response from the teacher and it would be too late; but she replied right away, immediately; not second day she replied immediately. She was responsive. I didn't drop it my last assignment I got 100%. *[sic]*

Status of hypothesis 6: The data supports the hypothesis. The qualitative data gathered in the current research project matches the empirical evidence from previous research.

Summary

Chapter IV investigated the six hypotheses developed in Chapter III. The researcher facilitated five focus group sessions, collected and analysed the data, and determined that the data supported hypotheses 1, 2, 4, 5, and 6. The data reflected in hypothesis 3 was determined to be inconclusive.

The first hypothesis concluded that professors who incorporate active learning techniques into their lessons influence student retention. Together with the research examined in the literature review, the data collected during the focus group sessions demonstrated that the use of active learning in the classroom led to higher student retention rates. The evidence also

established that professor's use of active learning techniques engages students, enhances the classroom experience and contributes to positive academic outcomes.

Hypothesis two declared that active learning contributes to student engagement, and therefore influences student persistence. The literature review and evidence from the focus group sessions concluded that professors, who use active learning techniques in the classroom, motivate and stimulate students thus keep them engaged in their studies. Increased student engagement encourages students to attend and participate in their classes, enhances student learning and positively influences student perceptions toward the subject matter and the institution; all of these factors contribute to student persistence.

In the third hypothesis, the researcher attempted to reveal that faculty's classroom behaviour and interpersonal skills influence a student's decision to remain in school. However, the evidence is deemed inconclusive. Although in many respects professors' attitudes do enhance the classroom experience, the majority of the students interviewed in the focus group sessions indicated that they would have carried on in their studies regardless of their professors' interpersonal behaviours.

The evidence clearly supported hypothesis four. The focus group participants identified several classroom practices that influenced their decision to persist, such as teacher responsiveness to questions, willingness to help during or outside classroom hours, and general concern for student emotional and academic well-being.

The literature and focus group data also supported hypothesis five. Professors do play an important role in student success and persistence. They act as mentors and provide academic guidance and emotional support to students. Good teachers also motivate students to learn.

Students thus perceive that the institution is concerned for their overall well-being, enhancing their loyalty and influencing their decision to remain at that institution.

The sixth hypothesis determined that the qualitative data gathered in the current research match the empirical evidence from previous research studies. The participant responses corroborated with various sources of evidence taken from the literature review as well as new research introduced in Chapter IV. The focus group participants and past research demonstrated that professors' use of active learning techniques and their classroom behaviours enhance student engagement, contribute to overall student success, and influence student retention.

With the exception of hypothesis three, the evidence collected by the focus group participants and the secondary literature supported all the hypotheses. Chapter V will provide an overall summary of the study, conclusions, and recommendations for the faculty and institution.

CHAPTER V: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Summary

Chapter I of this qualitative research study reviewed the background, the purpose of the study, and the statement of the problem. The chapter also developed a set of research questions, listed the definition of terms, and described the various limitations of the study. The researcher described the provincial government's ongoing task of emphasizing the importance of post-secondary education in Ontario, and the institutions' responsibility to ensure students who attend college are successful and persist in their academic pursuits. The researcher focused on the significant and ever-changing role of the faculty through the eyes of their audience – the students. Accordingly, the purpose of this study was to explore the students' perspectives of classroom activities and faculty behaviours that contribute to student success and influence students' decisions to remain in college.

The researcher listed various limitations she expected to encounter including surveyor fatigue and attracting the ideal research subjects to participate in the focus group questions. In fact, both concerns proved valid; for one, out of over 2000 potential subjects, only 12 students registered in the focus group sessions. Secondly, the researcher identified that the ideal subject would be the traditional learner, aged 18 to 22, because they represent the majority of the students at XXXX College. However, six of the twelve participants identified themselves as a mature or Second Career student, a growing demographic within the college system.

In Chapter II, the researcher provided an overview of the vast amounts of current literature relating to the positive effect of active learning on student engagement and persistence.

The literature also demonstrated that faculty's interpersonal skills and behaviour in the classroom

impacts tremendously on student success. Furthermore, the research concluded that faculty use of active learning techniques and their behaviour in the classroom influences students' institutional commitment and the students' perceptions of the institution's dedication to the students' welfare and academic achievement. The researcher completed the literature review by highlighting the research that indicated that despite the evidence supporting the relationship between active learning and enhanced educational outcomes, many faculty members continue to use lecturing as their main teaching style.

Chapter III described the methodology used to conduct the research. The researcher extended an invitation to all second-year XXXX College students asking them to participate in one of seven focus group sessions. The population included students varying in age, gender, and programs of study. The volunteers who participated in the focus group session became the population sample for the research. The secondary data included recent literature on the topic published between 1997 and 2010. The researcher developed six hypotheses based on the research questions, which were used as a preliminary guide to the investigation and subsequently, to create the focus group questionnaire (see APPENDIX C). The researcher gathered and transcribed the data from the responses given by the focus group participants.

In Chapter IV, the researcher examined the transcription data and categorized it by the most common and broad themes (see table in APPENDIX E). With the exception of the third hypothesis, the researcher determined that the data collected from the focus group participants supported the research hypotheses. The following section describes the conclusions formed by the researcher, based on the literature and the participants' responses.

Conclusions

The researcher deduced the following conclusions in support of the hypotheses, based on the literature review and subsequent analysis of the focus group participant responses. Foremost, the evidence supports that faculty play a significant role in the overall academic success of their students. Students comprehend that faculty, regardless of the teaching methods used, are their primary resource for gathering the knowledge they require to be successful in their studies. They also understand their own responsibilities as students; nonetheless, they rely heavily on their professors to provide them with knowledge, guidance, and mentorship.

Furthermore, particular activities, teaching techniques, and interpersonal behaviours contribute to the students' learning outcomes and influence the students' decision to remain in college. Students realize that the use of active learning techniques in the classroom, such as class discussions, and relating personal experiences, enhances the level of engagement in their studies, encourages students to continue attending and participating in class, and improves students' ability to retain course content. Students also appreciate professors who are well organized and prepared for lessons, and those who display positive attitudes in class. They also recognize the value of good teaching and presentation skills. In some instances, students attributed these types of behaviours to their decision to remain in their program or college in general. Students perceive to know when their professors are committed to students and when they are making an effort to deliver quality lessons. In return, students work and study harder, remain loyal and committed to the institution, and persist in their educational endeavours.

In order to support government and institutional initiatives regarding student retention, it is imperative that faculty heed the opinions and conclusions revealed in the vast amounts of current and past research on the topic of student persistence. Not to mention the overwhelming

financial, social, and emotional barriers that students overcome to complete college, faculty have the demanding challenge and a unique opportunity to influence students positively. Faculty can make a significant impact on the overall academic success of their students simply by incorporating active learning into their course delivery and by relating to students in an open, respectful, and professional manner.

It is important for the reader to understand the various limitations of this study. First, surveyor fatigue may have affected the rate of participation in that the researcher intended to attract approximately 50 participants to attend the focus group sessions and only 12 volunteered. Furthermore, only 50 percent of the students who participated were identified as traditional students while the other 50 percent where either adult or Second Career students. These two variables may have influenced the outcomes of the hypotheses.

Concerning the research process for this qualitative study, the researcher had difficulty attracting participants via e-mail invitation hence the low numbers. The researcher was conscientious of the process for attracting volunteer subjects; however, in the future, she will consider a different method for recruiting student participants. Time was also a factor in this study; therefore, the researcher was not able to conduct additional focus group sessions.

Regardless, the researcher gathered a great deal of valuable feedback during the focus group sessions despite the low attendance.

Recommendations

The following recommendations further emphasize how institutions and faculty members can influence and contribute to student engagement, academic success, and student persistence.

The first recommendation for faculty is to introduce or continue the use of active learning techniques in the classroom. The evidence from past research along with the feedback from the students who participated in the focus group sessions demonstrated that active learning contributes to a host of positive outcomes for students including enhanced engagement, increased attendance, and class participation. The researcher recommends that faculty members use or incorporate activities such as relating personal experiences, class discussions, and technology into their lesson plans. Although indirect, the literature concluded that the use of active learning also influences students' decisions to remain in school.

The second recommendation is for faculty to invest in creating a positive classroom environment for the students. The participants of the focus groups acknowledged that professors who were good humoured, empathetic, professional, responsive, and respectful to students were more pleasing, encouraged them to want learn more, and motivated them to attend and participate in class. They also agreed that organizational and presentation skills were significant attributes that benefit the classroom atmosphere and enhance their learning experience. In an article published by Inside Higher Ed (2010), good teaching and general positivity ranked number one and two, with 30.5% and 28.1% respectively in what students most value in an instructor.

The third recommendation is for institutional leadership teams. The researcher suggests that institutions acknowledge and actively promote the overarching academic benefits of using active learning techniques in the classroom. Although the researcher gathered evidence from only 12 participants by way of focus group sessions, the feedback provided by XXXX College students, in all programs of study, matches the vast array of research accumulated and published over the past 30 years. Many of the most recognized and reputable investigators in the study of

engagement and persistence recognize that active learning and student- centered instruction greatly benefits student-learning outcomes by way of improved academic performance and engagement levels. XXXX College highlights the provision of exceptional learning experiences in their business and strategic plans; therefore, it is imperative to reiterate the value of student centered instruction and to ensure that faculty members incorporate active learning techniques in their lessons.

The fourth recommendation is for institutions and comes from the literature on engagement, persistence, and active learning. The researcher suggests that it is in the best interest of the students and the institutions to acknowledge, support, and reward faculty who already incorporate active learning practices in the classroom. Umbach and Wawriynski's (2005) article summarizes the important role of college faculty and highlights various active learning strategies and behaviours displayed by faculty at institutions with high engagement levels. Kuh, Kinzie, Schuh, and White (2005) described how institutions evaluated in the DEEP project have benefitted from integrating their commitment to good teaching into their hiring practices. Institutional leaders should therefore consider recognizing faculty who make the extra effort of incorporating active learning exercises into their lesson plans.

In order to facilitate the process of introducing active learning into the classroom, the researcher suggests in this fifth recommendation that institutions provide the training and tools required to assist faculty in their endeavours to incorporate active learning into the classroom. Active learning requires more efforts on the part of both the professors and the students. Research studies have acknowledged the difficulty and resistance to incorporating active learning into the classroom by both the instructors and the students (Felder & Brent, 1996; Pundak, Herscovitz, Shacham, & Wiser-Biton, 2009). Faculty who traditionally use lectures as

their main teaching method are concerned about incorporating active learning for fear that they will not get through the entire syllabus (Felder & Brent, 1996). Therefore, faculty need encouragement and support from the institution to carry out its mandate in support of student-centered instruction.

The sixth recommendation is also for the institution. The researcher suggests that institutions do their utmost to ensure that students are in the right program from the onset of their college education. The literature demonstrated that program fit or lack thereof is one of the primary factors attributing to student persistence or attrition. As noted in the statement of the problem, lack of fit is described as not having the interest or motivation in the course or program of study (Barr-Telford, Cartwright, Prasil & Shimmons, 2003). Many of the focus group participants attributed their success in first-year to the passion for the program and their strong will and desire to be top in their profession. They also mentioned that regardless of other barriers, they would not quit, they want to work, and they want a job in the profession of their choice. This evidence suggests that appropriate program fit contributes to increased student persistence levels.

The seventh recommendation for institutional leaders and faculty is to continue to provide students with academic support through facilitated academic counselling, and peer tutoring opportunities. Kuh, Cruce, Shoup, Kinzie, and Gonyea (2008), underlined that "institutions should ensure that interconnected learning support networks, early warning systems, and safety nets are in place and working as intended" (p.556). XXXX College offers supplemental academic support to students through its Student Academic Learning Services (SALS). Several students who participated in the focus group session indentified that the services and tutoring offered by SALS was invaluable and in many instances instrumental to

their academic achievements. The researcher strongly recommends that colleges continue to promote these types of service and acknowledge the tremendous affect they have on students. The researcher also encourages institutions to continue to infuse the resources necessary to accommodate ongoing initiatives and strategies to augment student academic success.

The final recommendation relates to future research opportunities that could improve overall student retention. The researcher found that the literature focused particularly on factors that influenced persistence rates of traditional and first-year students. Based on the feedback provided during the focus group sessions of the current investigation, the researcher suggests that further studies are required to determine factors that affect the retention and address the particular needs of second and third year students. Given that 50 percent of the individuals who participated in the focus group sessions were mature and/or Second Career students, faculty and institutional leaders could benefit from examining studies on the topic of androgogy, the framework of adult learning, (Ross-Gordon, 2003) and other academic and service requirements of this emerging demographic.

REFERENCES

- Armbruster, P., Patel, M., Johnson, E., Weiss, M. (2009). Active learning and student-centered pedagogy improve student attitudes and performance in introductory biology. *The American Society for Cell Biology*, 8, 203-213. doi: 10.1187/cbe.09-03-0025
- Barr-Telford, L., Cartwright, F., Prasil, S., & Shimmons, K. (2003). *Access, persistence and financing: First results from the Postsecondary Education Participation Survey (PEPS)*(Catalogues no. 81-595-MIE2003007). Statistics Canada, education, skills and learning research papers. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/cgibin/downpub/studiesfree.cgi
- Braxton, J. M., Jones, W. A., Hirschy, A. S., & Hartley III, H. V. (2008). The role of active learning in college student persistence. *New Directions for Teaching and Learning*, 115, 71-83. doi:10.1002/tl.326
- Braxton, J. M., Milem, J. F., & Shaw Sullivan, A. (2000). The influence of active learning on the college student departure process: Toward a revision of Tinto's theory. *The Journal of Higher Education* 71(5), 569-590.
- Caboni, T. C., Mundy, M. E., & Duesterhaus, M. B. (2002). The implications of the norms of undergraduate college students for faculty enactment of principles of good practice in undergraduate education. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 77(3), 125-137. doi:10.1207/S15327930PJE7703_7
- Callahan, K. M. (2008). Academic-centered peer interactions and retention in undergraduate mathematics programs. *Journal of College Retention; Research, Theory & Practice,* 10(3), 361-389.

- CCI Research Inc. (2009). Measures of student engagement in postsecondary education;

 Theoretical Basis and applicability to Ontario's colleges. Toronto: Higher Education

 Quality Council of Ontario. Retrieved from Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario

 website: http://www.heqco.ca/SiteCollectionDocuments/Measures of Student

 Engagement in Postsecondary Education.pdf
- Chickering, A. W., & Gamson, Z. F. (1987). Seven principles for good practice in undergraduate education. *American Association for Higher Education*, *39*(7) 3-7.
- Creating the perfect instructor. (2010, July). *Inside Higher Ed*. Retrieved from http://www.insidehighered.com/layout/set/print/news/2010/07/15/perfect
- Dahlgren, D. J., Wille, D. E., Finkel, D. G., & Burger, T. (2005). Do active learning techniques enhance learning and increase persistence of first-year psychology students? *Journal of The First-Year Experience*, 17(1), 49-65.
- Demaris, M. C., & Kritsonis, W. A. (2008). The classroom: Exploring its effects on student persistence and satisfaction. *Focus on Colleges, Universities, and Schools*, 2(1), 1-9.
- Fairchild, T. N., (2005). Students first! Improving and evaluating faculty responsiveness to students. *School Psychology International*, *26*(1), 89-108. doi:10.1177/0143034305050896
- Felder, R. M., & Brent, R., (1996). Navigating the bumpy road to student-centered instruction.

 *College Teaching, 44, 43-47. Retrieved from http://0-www.jstor.org.catalog.lib.cmich.edu/stable/27558762
- Finnie, R., Childs, S., & Qui, H. (T.) (2010). The patterns of persistence in post-secondary education among college students in Ontario: New evidence from longitudinal data.

 Retrieved from http://www.co-student-retention.org/presentation_downloads.html

- Halpin, R. (1990). An application of the Tinto model to the analysis of freshman persistence in a community college. *Community College Review 17*(4), 22-32. doi:10.1177/009155219001700405
- Kinzie, J. (2010). Student engagement and learning: Experiences that matter. In J. Christensen Hughes & J. Mighty (Eds.), *Taking stock: Research on teaching and learning in higher education* (pp. 139-153). Montreal and Kingston: Queen's Policy Studies Series, McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Koljatic, M., & Kuh, G. D. (2001). A longitudinal assessment of college student engagement in good practices in undergraduate education. *Higher Education*, *42*, 351-371.
- Kuh, G. D. (2001). The National Survey of Student Engagement: Conceptual framework and overview of psychometric properties. Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Centre for Postsecondary Research and Planning. Retrieved from http://nsse.iub.edu/nsse_2001/pdf/framework-2001.pdf
- Kuh, G. D., Cruce, T. M., Shoup, R., Kinzie, J., & Gonyea, R. M. (2008). Unmasking the effects of student engagement on first-year college grades and persistence. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 79(5), 540-563.
- Kuh, G. D., Kinzie, J., Schuh, J. H., & White, E. L. (2005, July/August). Never let it rest: Lesson about student success from high-performing colleges and universities. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning;* 37(4), 44-51.
- Lambert, M., Zeman, K., Allen, M., & Bussiere, P. (2004) Who pursues postsecondary education, who leaves and why: Results from the youth in transition survey. (Catalogue number 81-595-MiE2004026). Statistics Canada, education, skills and learning research papers. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/

- MacDonald, M. (2010). Science that sizzles. *University Affairs*, 51(7), 16-19.
- Major, C., & Palmer, B. (2002). Faculty knowledge of influences on student learning. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 77(3), 138-162. doi:10.1207/S15327930PJE7703_8
- Michael, J. (2006). Where's the evidence that active learning works? *Advances in Physiology Education*, *30*, 159-167. doi:10.1152/advan.00053.2006
- Miner, R (2010). People without jobs, jobs without people: Ontario's labour market future.

 Retrieved from Colleges Ontario website:

 http://www.collegesontario.org/research/other/people-without-jobs-jobs-without-people-final.pdf
- Nelson Laird, T. F., Chen, D., & Kuh, G. D. (2008). Classroom practices at institutions with higher-than-expected persistence rates: What student engagement data tell us. *New Directions for Teaching and Learning*, 115, 85-99. doi: 10.1002/tl.327
- Pascarella, E.T., Seifert, T. A., & Whitt, E. J. (2008). Effective instruction and college student persistence: Some new evidence. *New Directions for Teaching and Learning, 115*, 55-70. doi: 10.1002/tl.325
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (2005). How college affects students: A third decade of research (2nd ed.). San Fransisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Prince, M. (2004). Does active learning work? A review of the research. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 93(3), 223-231.
- Pundak, D., Herscovitz, O., Shcham, M., & Wiser-Biton, R., (2009). Instructors' attitudes toward active learning. *Interdisciplinary Journal of E-Learning and Learning Objectives*, 5, 215-232.

- Rae, B. (2005). Ontario: A leader in learning: Report & Recommendations. *Postsecondary Review*. Retrieved from Government of Ontario website:

 www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/document/reports/postsec.pdf
- Reaching Higher: The McGuinty plan for postsecondary education, (2005). Retrieve from Government of Ontario website: http://www.news.ontario.ca/opo/en/2005/05/reaching-higher-the-mcguinty-government-plan-for-postsecondary-education.html
- Ross-Gordon, J. M. (2003). Adult Learners in the classroom. *New Direction for Student Services*, 102, 43-52.
- Seifert, T. A., Pascarella, E. T., Goodman, K. M., Salisbury, M. H., & Blaich, C. (2010). Liberal arts colleges and good practices in undergraduate education: Additional Evidence. *Journal of College Student Development*, 51(1), 1-22.
- Svanum, S. & Bigatti, S. M. (2009). Academic course engagement during one semester forecasts college success: Engaged students are more likely to earn a degree, do it faster, and do it better. *Journal of College Student Development*, *50*(1), 120-132.
- Thomas, L. (2002). Student retention in higher education; the role of institutional habitus. *Journal of Educational Policy 17*(4), p. 423-442. doi:10.1080/02680930210140257
- Tinto, V. (1975). Dropout from higher education: A theoretical synthesis of recent research.

 *Review of Educational Research, 45(1), 89-125.
- Tinto, V. (1997). Classrooms as communities; Exploring the educational character of student persistence. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 68(6), 599-623.
- Tinto, V. (1998). Colleges as communities: Taking research on student persistence seriously. *The Review of Higher Education*, 21(2), 167-177.

- Tinto, V. (2006). Research and practice of student retention: What next?. *Journal of College Student Retention*, 8(1), 1-19.
- Umbach, P. D., & Wawrzynski, M. R. (2005). Faculty do matter: The role of college faculty in student learning and engagement. *Research in Higher Education*, *46*(2), 153-184. doi:10.1007/s11162-004-1598-1
- Weimer, M. (2010). Taking stock of what faculty know about student learning. In Christensen Hughes, J., & Mighty, J. (2010). *Taking Stock: Research on Teaching and Learning in Higher Education* (pp. 81-93). Montreal and Kingston: Queen's Policy Studies Series, McGill-Queen's University Press.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A Letter of Permission from Vice President, Academic

July 12, 2010

XXXX c/o XXXX College XXXXX XXXX, ON L1H 7K4

Dear . XXXXXX:

I have reviewed your request to conduct a research project regarding student persistence along with the survey, focus group questionnaire, and materials used to promote and entice students to volunteer for this study. I feel this project will be beneficial to XXXX College as well as to the project participants.

You have my permission to survey second-year students from all the academic schools as the subject pool for this project provided you acquire similar permission from the Deans of each of the schools involved in this study.

Do not hesitate to contact me if you have any questions regarding this letter of approval.

Sincerely,

XXXX

XXXX

Vice President, Academic

c.c. XXXX, Dean, School of Applied Sciences, Apprenticeship, Skilled Trades & Technology,

XXXX Campus

XXXX, Dean, School of Applied Sciences, Apprenticeship, Skilled Trades & Technology,

Whitby Campus

XXXX, Dean, School of Business, IT & Management

XXXX, Dean, School of Communication, Language & General Studies

XXXX, Dean, School of Health & Community Services

XXXX, Dean, School of Justice & Emergency Services

APPENDIX B Letter of Invitation to Participants

Dear Student,

My name is XXXX and I am a graduate student with Central Michigan University, XXXX College Cohort, working on my Master of Arts Degree in Education with a concentration in Community Colleges. I am also an employee at XXXX College working as an administrator in the Student Affairs Department. As part of the Masters Degree program, I am conducting a research study for my Capstone Project and I would like to invite you to participate in a focus group session.

I am studying students' perspectives of classroom activities that contribute to a student's success and desire to persist in his or her college education. The research study focuses on the students' perceptions of classroom practices, such as active learning techniques, and the professor's behaviours and/or teaching techniques that foster student engagement, and enhance student retention at college. If you decide to participate, you will be asked to attend a focus group session with me and a group of other students. At the session, you will complete a short survey describing a little about yourself and then you will participate in a group discussion about the topic.

Specifically, you will be asked a series of questions about your classroom experiences, your professors' behaviours and teaching techniques and evaluate whether or not these factors have influenced your academic success and/or your desire to persist in college.

The meeting will take place at [insert date, time, location] and should last approximately 60 minutes.

I am happy to answer any questions you have about the study or to discuss your participation in the focus group session. You may contact me at XXXX

You may also contact my faculty advisor, XXXX if you have study related questions or problems.

If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Central Michigan University Institutional Review Board by calling 989.774.6777 or by addressing a letter to the Institutional Review Board, 251 Foust Hall Central Michigan University, Mt. Pleasant, MI 48859.

Thank you for your consideration. If you would like to participate, please attend the focus group session on [insert the date, time and location].

With kind regards,

XXXX

Graduate Student, Central Michigan University

APPENDIX C Focus Group Session Questionnaire

Questionnaire for Student Focus Group

Presented by XXXX

My name is XXXX and I am a graduate student with Central Michigan University. I am working on my Master of Arts Degree in Education with a concentration in Community Colleges. I am also an employee at XXXX College; I work as an administrator in the Student Affairs department. As part of the Masters Degree program, I am conducting research for my capstone project, which is studying students' perceptions of professors behaviours and teaching techniques that affect or influence the students' decisions to stay in a program and persist in their postsecondary education.

Your feedback and input in this session is essential for my research to be successful. Your participation helps me tremendously, and I would like to take this opportunity to thank you for attending today's focus group session.

When you have finished reading the consent form and filling out the small survey, I am going to ask you a series of questions. I will be recording today's session using a digital recorder and I will be taking notes as well. The audio recording will be used to help me with transcribing the data accurately and so that I do not miss the important themes and aspects of the discussion. If you prefer not to be audio recorded during today's session please let me know at any point during the session.

This session should take no more than one hour to complete.

Reminder: You are under no obligation to stay. This session is confidential and your identity and responses will remain confidential throughout the entire study. I remind you also not to identify yourself, other participants, or professors by name during the session.

Are there any questions/comments/concerns?

Let's begin!

- 1. Looking back at your first year here at XXXX College, think about your favourite classes; please identify the qualities, behaviours, and interpersonal skills of your professors' that kept you engaged in your studies, and made you want to keep attending that class.
- 2. Looking back at your first year, think about your favourite classes, please identify your professors teaching techniques (lecture, group work, class discussions, simulation, relating personal experience, role playing, projects, assignments etc.) that kept you engaged in your studies, encouraged you to learn, and made you want to keep attending that class.

- 3. Again, looking back at your first year here at XXXX College, think about your favourite classes, please identify your professors' teaching techniques (lecture, group work, class discussions, simulation, relating personal experience, role playing, projects, assignments etc.) helped you best learn the course content.
- 4. How do you know when you are engaged in a course/program? (give examples of student behaviour linked to engagement) What behaviours do you exhibit in the courses that you are engaged in versus those courses you are not engaged in?
- 5. Do you think that when you are engaged in a course that you will perform better academically? If so, why do you think this is the case?
- 6. At any point in time in your college experience did your professors' classroom behaviours/interpersonal skills influence your decision to stay in a course, program, or college in general? (For instance, you disliked the course but you really liked the professor so you stayed in the course.) Please elaborate or give an example.
- 7. At any point in time in your college experience, did your professors' teaching techniques (lecture, class discussion, group work, assignments, etc) influence your decision to stay in a course, program, or college in general? (For instance, you disliked the course but the way the way the professor taught the course kept you motivated and engaged enough to persist.) Please elaborate and/or give an example.
- 8. Do the majority of your professors use some form of active learning techniques in the classroom? (Michelle: give examples of active learning)
- 9. Have you ever taken a course that you wanted to quit but you did not? If so, why did you stay?
- 10. Do you believe that your grades or academic success or failure in a course or program influence your decision to persist?
- 11. Overall, who do you think has a bigger impact on your academic success, you, or your professors?
- 12. In your opinion, what role does your professor play in your academic success?

Active learning: Promoting active learning can be described as instructional activities involving students in doing things and thinking about what they are doing. It involves talking; listening; writing; reading and reflecting: The use of active learning in the classroom increases motivation to master material, fosters communication and interpersonal skills, and improves critical thinking skills. Also, students engage in higher-order thinking tasks such as analysis, synthesis, and evaluation.

Examples of active learning techniques used in the classroom:

Class discussion

Teamwork in small groups

Group presentations

Problem solving exercises - with or without peers

Relating tasks or discussions to student everyday life and past experiences

Visual based instruction

Case studies

Debates

Role-playing and simulation

Peer teaching

Regular "low-stakes" assessments (e.g. assignments and quizzes)

APPENDIX D Consent Form and Survey Questionnaire



Consent Form for Anonymous Surveys

Study Title: Perceptions of Faculty Classroom Practices That Influence Student Persistence

Contact information of researcher: XXXX, Contact information for researcher advisor: XXXX

Introductory Statement

My name is XXXX and I am a graduate student with Central Michigan University working on my Master of Arts Degree in Education with a concentration in Community Colleges. As part of the Masters Degree program, I am conducting a research study for my capstone project.

Thank you for taking the time today to participate in this focus group session. Your involvement in this study will help me gather your perspectives of classroom teaching and learning practices and provide me with important data to compliment the empirical research regarding student success, engagement, and persistence.

As the researcher of this study and the facilitator of this focus group session, I am the only person who will have access to your feedback. Please read on for the details of this study and feel free to ask questions at any time during the focus group session.

What is the purpose of this study? The purpose of this research study is to explore students' perspective of classroom activities that contribute to students' success and their desire to persist in their college studies. The research study focuses on students' perceptions of classroom practices, such as teaching techniques used by the professors that foster student engagement, and enhance student retention at college.

The researcher will compile the data based on the common themes of the focus group sessions, and will be used to establish a list of recommendations for college faculty members to consider when creating their lesson plans, delivering future course content, and developing course and program curriculum. College leadership and administration can also use the recommendations for promoting best practices to their full-time and part-time faculty.

What will I do in this study? During the focus group session, the participants will answer a short survey asking various demographic/background type questions. Participants will then take part in a focus group discussion regarding their classroom experiences. You will be asked to reflect upon your previous year(s) at college and discuss your impressions of your professors' behaviours and the teaching techniques used in class.

How long will it take to do this? The participants will take part in an hour-long focus group session.

Are there any risks of participating in the study? There are no risks to participating in this study. Your identity and responses will remain confidential.

What are the benefits of participating in the study? As the participants in this study, you have the opportunity to provide the researcher with information and feedback about your classroom experiences. The results will be collected to create a list of recommendations, which will be presented to college faculty, administration, and leadership. Although you may not benefit directly from participating in this study, your input will benefit future XXXX College students. I believe the results and recommendations derived from the study will positively affect faculty, administrators, college leadership, and more importantly, XXXX College students.

Will anyone know what I do or say in this study (Confidentiality)? The data collected during the session shall remain under strictest confidence. The participants' identities will not be disclosed to anyone and the answers provided will remain confidential. In all other instances, any data under the investigator's control will, if disclosed, be presented in a manner that does not reveal the subject's identity, except as it may be required by law.

The focus group sessions will be recorded using an audio recorder and the discussions will be transcribed during and after the focus group sessions. A note-taker may be present to assist with capturing your feedback but only the researcher will analyze the data recordings. The recordings and transcriptions will be held under lock and key, and again, the participants' identities and the information/input will remain confidential throughout the entire study. Once the data is transcribed, the recordings will be erased.

Note: If you do not wish to be audio recorded, please indicate this to the focus group facilitator at the beginning of the session.

You may feel uncomfortable answering some of the questions; therefore, you are not obligated to answer the questions. Participation is confidential. Study information will be kept in a secure location at XXXX College. The results of the study may be published or presented at professional meetings, but your identity will

not be revealed. Participation is anonymous, which means that no one (not even the researcher) will know your answers. So, please do not write your name or other identifying information on any of the study materials.

Others in the group will hear what you say, and it is possible that they could tell someone else. Because this will be a group discussion, it is possible that what you say will not remain completely private. Therefore, you and the other group members will be asked to respect the privacy of everyone in the group. Also, please do not identify yourself, other participants, or your professors by name at any time during the focus group session.

Taking part in the study is your decision and you are under no obligation to participate. You may quit being in the study at any time and/or decide not to answer any question(s) you are not comfortable answering. Participation, non-participation, or withdrawal will not affect your grades or your standing with the college in any way.

Will I receive any compensation for participation? There is no monetary compensation for participating in this study. Refreshments will be offered during the focus group session.

Whom can I contact for information about this study? For more information about this study, please contact the researcher, XXXX at XXXX. If you wish to remain anonymous to the researcher, please direct your questions to your student liaison.

You are free to refuse to participate in this research project or to withdraw your consent and discontinue participation in the project at any time without penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. Your participation will not affect your relationship with the institution involved in this research project.

To the participants:

Your return of this signed form (below), and the attached survey implies your consent to participate in this research; and you have been given a second copy of this form to keep for your records. You agree to be audio recorded and have been advised that your identity and your input will remain under strictest confidence.

Note: If you do not wish to be audio recorded, please indicate this to the focus group facilitator at the beginning of the session.

you may report (anonymously if you so choose) any complaints to the Institutional Review Board by calling 989-774-6777, or addressing a letter to
the Institutional Review Board, 251 Foust Hall Central Michigan University, Mt.
Pleasant, MI 48859.
Participant Signature :

Researcher Signature:

If you are not satisfied with the manner in which this study is being conducted,

Questionnaire to Participants

★ More than 21 hours

1.	Gender: Male Female	2.	Age: 18-24 25-30 31-35 36-40 41-45
3.	In what program are you currently enrolled?	4.	 ★ 46+ Have you ever been enrolled in another postsecondary academic program or institution? ★ Yes ★ No
5.	 If yes, please indicate which one(s): Another program at XXXX College Another program at a different college Another program at a university Other: 		Highest level of education attained: Secondary school diploma College certificate College diploma Post diploma University degree Other:
7.	Do you consider yourself (check all that First Generation Student (first of yourself (second Career Student (recently la return to postsecondary) International Student (you are student Traditional Student (began college Adult/Mature Student (at least one	ou in id of lying right	ply): nmediate family to attend college) if and obtained government funding to away from your home country) out of high school)
8.	Do you have a job while you are attended employment)? • Yes • No	ding	college (excludes summer
9.	Do you commute to school (drive or ta	ıke t	he bus)
10	.How much time, in hours do you spend Less than 1 hour Between 2-5 hours Between 6-10 hours Between 11-20 hours	d on	campus outside of classroom hours?

APPENDIX E Theme Analysis Table

Theme Analysis

Perception of Faculty Behaviours on Student Persistence

Qu	estion	Themes	Quotes
1.	XXXX College, think about your favourite classes; please identify the qualities, behaviours, and interpersonal skills of your professors' that kept you engaged in your studies, and made you want to keep	Helpful, understanding, Committed to the students Emphasis success – ask for help if you need it. Happy and smiling Humourous/fun Friendly, nice person	The professors know who you are they're very personal with you and they really interact with the students, which I like, they know my writing styles, they know who I am by name, they always used humour in the classroom. (used in Hypothesis 2)
	attending that class.	Engaged with students Personable/ Easy to talk to/approachable Knows the student / more personal /Ask about personal experience/Relate to students Want to see you succeed Treat students as equals and with respect Self Confident	He was good with questions too and conversationand He'll find answers for you right away. It just seems like those guys, you can really tell, they are the ones who have been working in the industry for a long time, which I think is key for professors is that they
		Passionate about the material and about what they do – Teach – Teachers that motivate and praise and keep a positive environment Precision – no discrepancies in assessments of assignments, exams, or tests Knowledgeable and have experience Still involved or working in industry	have the experience and they are still involved in it somehow; and it really shows their behaviour and their skills because they are passionate about what they do and they pass that on to the student and that's why I felt those classes that I felt were a good learning experiences. (used in Hypothesis 2)
		Relate personal experiences, tell stories from time in the industry Organized	Teach you what you needed to know and would do extra hours with people if they needed help. It's when you can see in your teacher that they want to see you succeed

Prepared
Professional
Presentation Skills/
Manages the class well
Gets people involved
Use technology such as WebCT, youtube,

and help you as much as possible. (used in Hypothesis 2)

During my first semester. It was stressful because I didn't know what to do because I had to take care of my husband; I thought I would drop out. But then teachers explained and helped me; provided moral support. Teachers helped me to carry on. Students, most of who are teenagers and nobody they didn't ask me how I was doing. But all teachers , all teachers asked me everyday, how are you; how's your husband, how is he feeling. They supported me so much.

Need to practice what you preach; feel I have a high expectation for my own work so professors work needs to be what is expected from professor; so if professor is expecting good quality than they have to deliver good quality teaching;

Being organized is a big deal – organization makes all the difference in the world.

Every professor should have to post the information online. We can review and go back to review if you're having problem with the questions. It's good to have marks up too.

Good teachers can pass the information and their knowledge onto the students

...because in first semester, you're nervous and so are they right. You're new to them and they are new to you. So it's nice to be in a comfortable atmosphere...I don't want the grumpy professor, I want the happy one. (used in hypothesis 2) I like how they emphasis success too. In first semester they are always empasising success. Ask for help if you need it. (use for hypothesis 5) 2. Looking back at your first year, think Relating Personal Experiences/stories/Ideas My science teacher even said himself, it's about your favourite classes, please relate to everyday topics or situations. worth seeing a light bulb turn on when a identify your professors' teaching student understands something, you can see Real world examples that are related to the techniques (lecture, group work, class it. And it's very rewarding. field. **Practical examples** discussions, simulation, relating personal Teachers/ professors breathe life into the experience, role playing, projects, And real world examples, or relating things to the real world is when like when if we're doing assignments etc.) that kept you engaged courses they teach-but it is their choice to do in your studies, encouraged you to learn, something in class that we will actually be SO. doing in the field or when we get out of school and made you want to keep attending that class. its great as opposed to something that you Lecture know like you're like k we're never going to do PowerPoint slides Videos that accompany the lecture this why are we doing this, we're going to lose interest right there. The technique is the Gives material (Powerpoints, notes in Word) relationship to, you know the actual in advance of class or lab for preparation. experiences. Discusses the labs in class and then go and practice I personally liked it when I was just able to go Information is available on WebCT in and have everything given to me, so all the notes all the work done and then have Class participation and discussion and something assigned that we take up the next

debates; asking questions
Videos that relate to the lecture
Role playing, simulation, labs
Group work (some like it some don't)
Individual assignments – some students don't
like group work

Negative:

Need more time in labs, SIM labs or provide more resources.

Group work – work equity is a problem; some adults find it difficult to work with younger students – some do not share in all the work equitably.

time to see if you actually learned what you've taken up that day. Cause there were other classes where you'd be given all this work and then class time to work on it. I'd like to have more, a lot more review in my classes before I go home and attempted to do it myself. I kinda like the teaching. (quote used in Hypothesis 1)

Asking questions so it isn't just our teacher talking the entire time. Teachers breathe life into the courses they teach-but it is their choice to do so. My science teacher even said himself, it's worth seeing a light bulb turn on when a student understands something, you can see it. And it's very rewarding. Teachers that motivate and praise and keep a positive environment. Then there should be no reason to not want to attend class. (Quote used in Hypothesis 3)

 Again, looking back at your first year here at XXXX College, think about your favourite classes, please identify your professors' teaching techniques (lecture, group work, class discussions, simulation, relating personal experience, role playing, projects, assignments etc.) helped you best learn the course content. Hands on, visual learner Relating personal experiences that relate to the field and link to lecture – easier to remember content when it's linked to an example.

Review in class prior to labs/assignments/exercises Visual aids, video and PPT.

Prompting you to think about your mistakes rather than give you the answers.
Class discussion help learn different point of

Oh yeah. Again I'll make the reference back to university. If I was in a classroom sitting there every week listening to my professor talk, it was like everything was going in one ear and out the other. I didn't get anything. Here it's like the, you know, their techniques when they're doing the group, like the group work for example because we're teaching each other, and we're talking about different things since everyone gets to talk about it with each other we're also learning while we're speaking

		Using technology, audio lectures and WebCT – providing information prior to attending class so you are prepared for the lesson. (related to the article by dawson) can also review after class. (audio learners can listen to the lecture over again) Group assignments should be completed in class. Course outlines that clearly highlight course objectives Negative: Don't read the slides – students can read.	to each other which I really like because then everyone in the group kinda gets it at the same time and everyone learns it at the same time. (used for Hypothesis 1) I like the labs because I can see what's going on. Lecture and teacher explanation. I like when examples based on relating personal experiences. It's very interesting to know about their work and I memorize it better. If they link their experience to the topic I memorize it for sure. (quote used in hypothesis 3) While relating complicated science to a real life application allows me to understand how things work. Or why I would need to learn this information in order to solve for an answer. (Quote used for Hypothesis 3 and 6)
4.	How do you know when you are engaged in a course/program? What behaviours	I'm awake, alert paying attention	
	do you exhibit in the courses that you are	Engaged:	
	engaged in versus those courses you are	Asking question	
	not engaged in?	answering questions	
		get work done immediately	
		writing notes, well prepared for class	
		want to learn material	
İ		involved in the course/don't want class to be	

		over. Not engaged: Bored, will not pay attention will not interact work doesn't get done distracted, zone out sleep skip class can't focus	
5.	Do you think that when you are engaged in a course that you will perform better academically? If so, why do you think this is the case?	Yes (all students) Reasons: More focused More passionate Want to learn, interested in learning Developing as a whole; learn all the material	Of course, that's the biggest thing. If not engaged I'm not learningI should still try in courses, but you have to be engaged, or you're not going to get a thing out of it. I'm not going to learn because I'm sleeping if I'm not engaged. You won't get anything out of the course if you are not engaged. Want to learn as much as possible and you'll us When you find the course not relevant to what you are taking it's hard to be engaged with that as well.
6.	At any point in time in your college experience did your professors' classroom behaviours or interpersonal skills influence your decision to stay in a course, program, or college in general? (For instance, you disliked the course but you really liked the professor so you	Most students said not really We have to stay – no choice to quit any class because they are all prerequisites. Yes: professor related to me; prof assured me to stay college wants to help you succeed.	Yes, I did have a professor who convinced me to stay. She spent quite a bit of time sitting down with me because I had quite a bit of stress. She assured me to stay. I was ready to go. She bought me a coffee, sat me down; she wanted me to get through it Actually, and somebody else – I went in the office and

stayed in the course.) Please elaborate or give an example.	Want to stay to finish because we've come this far; already finished year one, no sense in dropping out half way through the program.	telling my problems and life story. He didn't care about the college numbers; it was about me (used in Hypothesis 3) Yes – about fitness because for my course I must attend fitness. This summer my family dr. Informed me that I have osteoporosis. Physically I cannot attend because I have to do it for my course. I really really like my teacher she is so enthusiastic and I do as much as I can even what is prohibited for me. Teacher can see that when person really tries or when someone is very lazy. I didn't know I would pass. (used in Hypothesis 3) Our teachers even congratulated us at the end of the first year. They know it's a hard program and their praise really made my efforts that much more rewarding. I was really looking forward to coming back to my second year - I was confident I was going to learn what I needed to know. The professor made me look forward to learn more of the same. I was thinking of not coming back but it would be good to learn this stuff. His behaviour and interpersonal skills made the difference.
7. At any point in time in your college	NO – overall good experience – picked the	Picked the right program
experience, did your professors' teaching	right course	
techniques (lecture, class discussion,		If you don't have the concept than it's really
group work, assignments, etc) influence	Yes – teaching techniques made the	hard to grasp what's being taught to you. The
your decision to stay in a course,	difference – group work and presentations	way the teacher would talk it was very

program, or college in general? (For instance, you disliked the course but the way the way the professor taught the course kept you motivated and engaged enough to persist.) Please elaborate and/or give an example.

One course – thought about dropping but the way the teacher lectured made the difference. Very interesting course

One online course – didn't think I could do it but the professor was very responsive (maybe better example for #6)

interesting. It was hard to grasp. But the lectures were interesting. Delivery and the way she lectured was interesting. She is a very good lecturer.

I guess some of the stuff I was doing over the summer time is knowledge that I wish I had. There was this semester and in one class, just the way he [professor] provides you with the information I was confident that I was going to come in and I was going to learn what I needed to know because I know the way that he sets things out and its very, you know, specific and I talked to him before about what we would be learning. So, I was looking forward to coming back to learn that stuff. And actually that was one of the classes when I was really thinking about not coming back. It's like, you know, I should stay and it would be really good to learn this stuff. So, his teaching techniques really brought me back.

They post the ppt but there is so much extra in the class so it's important to attend the lectures. There are discussions and the floor is always open for questions or clarifications. If you have a train a thought during the lecture you can raise your hand and have your questions answered. (quote in hypothesis 2)

My first reaction, I was scared because I thought, I could not ask anyone, I would have to do everything by myself. And my first

			reaction was to drop this class. But then I realize that okay I can try and we will see. Teacher explained very well. When I asked her a question I thought I would wait many days or weeks before getting a response from the teacher and it would be too late; but she replied right away, immediately; not second day she replied immediately. She was responsive. I didn't drop it my last assignment I got 100%. (used in Hypothesis 3) I would say yes, because when things got tough. My teacher was willing to meet me with to help. No matter when, no matter how many times I needed help. He understood everyone learns a different way, so he tries his best to teach his material in more than one way.
8.	Do the majority of your professors use some form of active learning techniques in the classroom?	Yes!	
9.	Have you ever taken a course that you wanted to quit but you did not? If so, why did you stay?	Yes – stayed because I needed the credit! No choice of dropping a class – need them to Yes – professor had no interpersonal skills (professor interpersonal) Yes – class is so hard (not ready academically) No – every course is valuable	No – not since high school felt like I would be failing. I'm going to stick this out. Yes – professor had no interpersonal skills I finished because I like being at school and I like the guys in the class. Seeing classmates is a huge factor for coming back. Yes – class is so hard - High school didn't prepare us for what we are experiencing in college. Science courses are so hard. Downer

	Yes – had a problem with the professor (professor teaching techniques)	because grades are lower. I had a problem with the professor. I had to take the class, there wasn't a way I could drop it. I was trapped. I couldn't understand his teaching methods. And he didn't seem to care at all.
10. Do you believe that your grades or academic success or failure in a course or program influence your decision to persist?	Yes – high expectations of getting good grade Yes high expectations of myself No – sometimes it's more about what you learn than the grade you get.	Getting good marks makes you want to keep learning. Yes – came in with high expectation of getting good grades; a lot of information and overwhelming; lower grades are not what you are used to. Crushing when you don't meet your own expectations. Grades are huge but you want to be top of the line in your profession – sometimes a de-motivator but makes you want to work harder No - I will get through this course, I'm here to learn, If I have the skills and abilities to continue my grades say nothing about me and who I am, I'm big on grades but it won't deter me. I'm going to finish my schooling. Grades will not deter me from doing what I want to do. Yes, when you fail you feel down and kinda crappy. Like you tried your best and you still got a poor mark, what's the point of trying? But then the flip side is to look at your other courses and look how well you did, knowing you earned those marks.

11. Overall, who do you think has a bigger impact on your academic success, you, or your professors? Why? Please elaborate on your answer.	Most students said both: Have to want to be taught and professors have to be willing to teach. Professor: They are being paid to teach you Yourself: student has to put in the effort.	Both: Professor helps you get there and you have to push yourself – Good teacher helps but for the most part it's the student; you have to have passion and you have to love it or you're just asking to fail Both: but the professor should keep students engaged because they should want you to learn, if they don't want you to learn then it's not the job for them. Professors have to want to teach and the student should want to learn. It's so hard to say. If I say just my professor and how good they are but I didn't make any effort, I wouldn't stay. I think it's both. I am nothing without them and I think [they are] the same without us as well. Definitely both. (quoted in hypothesis 5) The teachers give you what you need to succeed than you have to reciprocate. Professor: Professor is being paid to teach Should be the professor - we are the customer and they should have the biggest impact on our success. Yourself – your professors are here to teach but the student has to attend class, prepare

		Yourself: Yes, your professors are there to teach you but you are the one there learning Yourself:I have to say it's me, the student. For I am there to listen, do the work and in the end learn. My teachers are there to help and teach. I have to take the pride in my work, I have to take the time to study and understand, to learn. (quote used in hypothesis 5)
12. In your opinion, what role does your professor play in your academic success?	Motivator Provide guidance Help develop skills to help you develop who you are Support Mentor Reassurance Human support/understanding/Good person Friend Face of the school Teacher – ensure you learn content Want you to succeed Excited about the field you are in.	Play a big role - they are the face of the school, they are providing the information; deciding what goes into the courses curriculum; what we are being taught; they have a huge role and important role in our academic success. In my opinion, my teacher is my teacher. He or she is me mentor, my tutor, my friend and sometimes a motivator. They are the ones that can make or break a course or even a program. They are the ones that make a class worth going to rather than just sitting in a chair for 3 hours straight.